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Shifting Toward

Sustainable
Growth

The Taiheiyo Cement Group aspires to leadership 

in pioneering a sustainable future for our planet. 

Committed to doing business in ways that contribute 

to economic development, are environmentally 

efficient, and make a positive difference to society, we 

aim to be a leader of industry in the Pacific Rim. 

 The Group—consisting of Japan’s top cement 

company, a mineral resource business associated 

with the cement business, and an environmental 

business—operates in a manner consistent with this 

ideal around the globe.

 Further, we are committed to fulfilling our 

corporate social responsibilities of the cement 

industry’s mission. A major part of this entails 

working to protect the environment and advancing the 

emergence of a socioeconomic structure predicated 

on closed loop materials sourcing by exploiting our 

cement plants and the recycling capabilities and 

technologies we have developed to help reduce, 

recycle, and reuse large volumes of waste materials 

and by-products.

Corporate Profile Financial Highlights

Contents

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

CONSOLIDATED 2011 2010 2011
For the year:
Net Sales ¥ 726,475 ¥ 728,582 $ 8,736,927
Operating Income 16,433 3,572 197,635
Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Minority Interests 15,717 (42,155) 189,015
Net Income (Loss) 5,162 (37,042) 62,083
At year-end:
Net Assets 165,538 188,187 1,990,837
Total Assets 997,460 1,155,256 11,995,914

Yen U.S. dollar

Net Income (Loss) per Share 5.49 (39.50) 0.07
(Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

UNCONSOLIDATED 2011 2010 2011
For the year:
Net Sales ¥ 265,484 ¥ 278,843 $ 3,192,834
Operating Income (Loss) 15,425 3,381 185,511
Income (Loss) before Income Taxes and Minority Interests 25,974 (39,341) 312,375
Net Income (Loss) 21,204 (39,559) 255,010
At year-end:
Net Assets 123,820 106,306 1,489,126
Total Assets 546,557 628,462 6,753,150

Yen U.S. dollar

Net Income (Loss) per Share 22.34 (41.81) 0.27
Dividends per Share 2.50 — 0.03
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Others:
China, Malaysia, Vietnam, Philippines, Hungary, 
Papua New Guinea

 Sales Composition by Geographic Segments

(As of March 31, 2011/Consolidated)

Taiheiyo Cement Group Main Business Locations
GLOBAL NETWORK

Domestic Main Business Locations

 Net Sales  Ordinary Income  Net Income  Number of Employees

Japan
80.5%

Others
13.6%

U.S.A.
5.9%
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Shifting Toward

Sustainable
Growth

ANNUAL REPORT 20112



 

Business Restructuring Delivers Improved Earnings
(Fiscal 2011, ended on March 31, 2011)

The Japanese economy showed signs of a 
recovery in housing investment and capital 
expenditure in fiscal 2010, but the overall 
economic outlook remained ambiguous 
due to continued cuts in public sector 
spending and a worsening employment 
and income climate.
 Continuing declines in Japan’s cement 
demand made for challenging business 
conditions during the year. In this context 
we worked to restructure through a 
program that entailed selling some fixed 
assets but focused on overhauling our 

domestic production structure and human resources organization. As we began to 
achieve the program’s goals, earnings improvements also began to appear, becoming 
evident in the second half of the fiscal year.
 The earthquake and tsunami disaster that struck northeastern Japan on March 11, 
2011, had a huge impact throughout Japan on production activities as well as people’s 
lives. In its wake, the economic outlook is increasingly uncertain and, as were those of 
many other companies, a number of Taiheiyo Cement Group production and logistics 
facilities were badly damaged.
 Meanwhile, overseas the US economy is seeing an upturn in private-sector 
consumption but, as evidenced by the low level of housing starts, conditions remain 
unfavorable in the housing market. In China, where the economy continues to expand, 
the trend for domestic demand is firm; exports, though still at a high level, are however 
slowing. In the rest of Asia, where many economies are enjoying strong domestic 
demand and exports, situations are improving.
 In this business climate the Group’s consolidated sales reached ¥726,475 
million, down ¥2,106 million from FY2010; income from operations was ¥16,433 
million, up ¥12,860 million, and ordinary income was ¥8,124 million, up ¥7,976 
million. Extraordinary profit from the sale of fixed assets totaled ¥22,697 million and 
extraordinary losses stemming from the March 11 earthquake reached ¥9,206 million. 
As a result, we posted a net profit of ¥5,162 million in FY2011, a ¥42,203 million 
improvement over FY2010.
 With regret we decided against paying a dividend in FY2010, but you will be glad to 
learn that we have decided to pay an FY2011 year-end dividend of ¥2.5 per share.

Sustaining Growth while Contributing to 
Post-Quake Recovery and Reconstruction

The Taiheiyo Cement Group’s priority 
right now is expeditiously repairing the 
earthquake damage at our production 
and logistics facilities and leveraging 
our products (including cement and 
concrete) and know-how to contribute 
to post-earthquake recovery work. While 
working as quickly as possible to restore 
production at our Ofunato plant in Iwate 
Prefecture, which was damaged by the 
earthquake, we are using a kiln at the 
plant that escaped damage to incinerate 
debris to assist in post-earthquake 

recovery work in the Tohoku region.
 Although we must be prepared for the unexpected at a time of deepening 
economic uncertainty, the Taiheiyo Cement Group intends to focus on four priorities:
•	Fortify	the	earnings	base	of	the	domestic	cement	business;
•	Develop	growth	strategies	centered	on	the	resource,	environmental,	
 and overseas businesses;
•	Enhance	group	governance	and	push	forward	with	our	strategy	of	concentrating	

on selected business areas;
•	Strengthen	the	balance	sheet.

 The Taiheiyo Cement Group remains active in its efforts to fulfill the mission of the 
cement industry to bring safety and security to people and communities by supplying 
cement and concrete, while doing our utmost to improve our profitability so that 
we can meet the expectations of our shareholders. We thank you for your generous 
support to date, and look forward to serving you further going forward.

Keiji Tokuue President
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Completion ceremony for second production line

Vietnam Business Second Production Line Begins Operation at Nghi Son Cement Corporation

Working to meet robust cement demand

Nghi Son Cement Corporation is a joint venture between Vietnam Cement Industry 
Corporation (Vicem), Taiheiyo Cement, and Mitsubishi Materials Corporation.
 Vietnam’s economy has been developing rapidly for several years now. To 
help Nghi Son Cement meet the country’s commensurately growing demand for 
cement—50.2 million tons in fiscal 2010, exceeding Japan’s demand of some 41.6 
million tons—the company began building a second production line in April 2007. 
Completed and launched on April 23, 2010, the line can produce 2.2 million tons 
annually and gives the company’s plant in Thanh Hoa Province an overall annual 
capacity of 4.35 million tons. This makes the plant the largest cement manufacturing 
facility in the country and sets Nghi Son Cement well on its way toward its goal of 
being Vietnam’s leading cement supplier.

Expanding supply structure

Nghi Son Cement is working to expand its supply structure. The company built a 
cement distribution terminal in Khanh Hoa Province and is building a new cement 
tanker to service Central and South Vietnam.
 Nghi Son Cement is working to increase its presence in Vietnam’s cement market. 
It aims to increase sales in South Vietnam with focus on Ho Chi Minh City, which has 
few cement plants and anticipates a cement shortage. The company is also actively 
marketing in Central Vietnam, mainly in Nha Trang, via the newly completed cement 
terminal.

Nghi Son Cement Corporation

Headquarters Hai Thoung Commune, Tinh Gia District, Thanh Hoa Province 

  (230km south along the coast from Hanoi)

Capital US$180.18 million

Shareholders Vietnam Cement Industry Corporation (Vicem) 35%, 

  NM Cement (Japanese shareholder; Taiheiyo Cement 70%, 

  Mitsubishi Material 30%) 65%

Representative Hideaki Asakura

Employees 592 (as of December 31, 2010)

Production capacity 4.35 million tons of cement annually 

  (No. 1 line 2.15 million tons; No. 2 line 2.2 million tons)

Cement terminals Hiep Phuoc Distribution Terminal, Ho Chi Minh City 

  (two 15,000 ton silos and one 30,000 ton silo) and Ninh Thuy 

  Distribution Terminal, Khanh Hoa Province (one 15,000 ton silo)

Branch offices Hanoi Office, HCMC Branch Office (Ho Chi Minh City)

Outline of capacity expansion

No. 2 production line (built alongside No. 1 line):

Capacity  2.2 million tons of cement per year

Extension of limestone quarry

  Development of new limestone deposit

Cement tanker 15,000 ton cement tanker (under construction)

Cement terminal in central Vietnam

  Ninh Thuy Distribution Terminal, Ninh Hoa District, 

  Khanh Hoa Province (one 15,000 ton silo)
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Cement demand in Vietnam (million tons)

The Nghi Son Cement Corporation, Vietnam

Helping with 
post-March 11 quake reconstruction

Ofunato plant begins incinerating debris
On June 22, our plant in Ofunato, Iwate Prefecture, began incinerating debris left 
behind by the earthquake and tsunamis of March 11.
 The Ofunato plant incurred damage in the quake and has suspended cement 
production, but taking advantage of the location of its No. 5 kiln which is sited on 
high ground and therefore was unaffected by the tsunamis, we are processing 
disaster debris and waste from the cities of Ofunato and neighboring Rikuzentakata. 
The kiln can incinerate some 300 tons daily, and Taiheiyo Cement Corporation plans 
to continue helping with post-earthquake restoration and reconstruction work in the 
region in this and other ways.

Restoration of earthquake-damaged facilities
Taiheiyo Cement is working to resume cement production at Ofunato plant’s No. 5 
kiln in November 2011, and we also intend to continue incinerating debris at the plant.
 Completion of the restoration of our Hachinohe East, Hachinohe West, Sendai, 
Soma, Onahama North, and Onahama South service stations allowed us to restart 
cement shipments from September 2011.

COLUMN
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Cement Business

Despite an upturn in private-sector demand from the modest recovery in spending on plant, equipment and 
housing, the decline in public-sector demand stemming from large cuts in public works budgets meant that overall 
domestic cement demand fell by 2.6% year-on-year to 41.61million tons in FY2011. Imports fell by 24.1% to 
570,000 tons and exports were down 9.8% to 9.96 million tons.
 At the Taiheiyo Cement Group domestic cement sales by volume, including consignment sales, fell by 4.7% 
year-on-year to 14.12 million tons. Export volume fell 19.6% to 4.02 million tons. As a result, domestic cement sales 
declined by ¥2,492 million year-on-year to ¥348,583 million, however operating income increased by ¥11,463 million 
year-on-year to ¥14,098 million as a result of business restructuring.
 In the overseas cement business, cement and ready-mixed concrete operations in the West Coast region of the 
U.S. were affected by a continuing slump in the construction market. The Chinese cement business recorded sales 
growth in a robust market despite the negative effects of rising coal prices. The Vietnamese cement business was 
also affected by rising coal prices and other negative factors. The cement business in the Philippines remained brisk, 
underpinned by strong demand in the country. Overseas cement sales declined by ¥9,663 million year-on-year to 
¥90,757 million, and operating loss increased by ¥2,669 million to  ¥6,146 million.

Sales ¥439,340 million 
 (down ¥12,156 million year-on-year)

Operating Income ¥7,951 million 
 (improvement ¥8,794 million year-on-year)

Mineral Resources Business

Aggregate shipments decreased year-on-year on 
continuing weak demand for ready-mixed concrete. 
Shipments began to recover in 2H, but not enough 
to compensate for the slump in 1H. Mineral product 
shipments were brisk thanks to a recovery of limestone 
demand in the steel industry.
 In the surplus construction soil recycling business, a 
downturn in cement production translated into a decline 
in intake volume year-on-year, despite an increase in 
the number of construction projects. Land reclamation 
material shipments fell sharply with the completion of 
expansion works at Haneda Airport.

Sales ¥82,728 million
 (down ¥3,750 million year-on-year)

Operating Income ¥1,689 million 
 (up ¥862 million year-on-year)

Fiscal 2011 Review of Operations
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Environmental Business

Total intake volume declined due to 
suspension of cement production at some 
domestic plants, despite efforts to allocate 
waste products accepted by these plants 
to alternative facilities. Sales of flue gas 
desulfurization products were brisk.

Sales ¥58,037 million
 (down ¥2,879 million year-on-year)

Operating Income ¥529 million 
 (up ¥1,052 million year-on-year)

Construction Materials Business

Sales and income were down year-
on-year in the construction materials 
business because of a decline in sales of 
autoclaved lightweight concrete (ALC) and 
other construction materials amid a slump 
in construction demand.

Sales ¥84,536 million
 (down ¥4,208 million year-on-year)

Operating Loss ¥239 million 
 (down ¥1,305 million year-on-year)

Ceramics & Electronics Business

Sales increased year-on-year in the 
ceramics business on improved market 
conditions. Sales of products used in 
semiconductor and LCD manufacturing 
equipment were generally strong.
 Electronic business sales rose sharply, 
underpinned by product demand in Japan 
and overseas. Operating income improved 
for both businesses as a result.

Sales ¥42,878 million
 (up ¥22,447 million year-on-year)

Operating Loss ¥1,088 million 
 (improvement ¥2,539 million year-on-year)

Other Business

Our other businesses include interests in 
real estate, engineering, data processing, 
transportation and warehousing, and 
sports facilities.
 Although the transportation and 
warehousing business performed well, 
the transition of consolidated subsidiary 
Azuma Shipping Co., Ltd. to an equity-
method company by the sale of part of 
our stake in the company led to an overall 
decrease in sales year-on-year in this 
segment. Operating income grew as a 
result of an increase in handling volume in 
the warehousing business.

Sales ¥85,448 million
 (down ¥15,673 million year-on-year)

Operating Income ¥3,596 million 
 (up ¥498 million year-on-year)
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Improve the Reputation of Cement and 
Concrete 

Cement Business
The Great East Japan Earthquake of March 11, 2011, 
once again demonstrated the resilience of cement and 
concrete in natural disasters. We believe there will be 
widespread recognition of the importance of concrete’s 
role in providing safety and security—protecting human 
life and ultimately the whole country. We will continue 
to take the initiative in fulfilling the mission of the 
cement and concrete industries  and meeting society’s 
expectations.
 Domestic cement demand bottomed around 
November 2010 and was showing signs of a recovery 
until March 11, when conditions changed overnight. 
We expect the private sector to take a cautious stance 
on capital spending in FY 2012 in the aftermath of the 
earthquake, which may lead to a temporary downturn. 
Post-quake reconstruction is unlikely to spur demand in 
2H or later depending on when the government passes a 

supplementary budget and progress with the disposal of 
debris.
 Business conditions for the rest of 2011 are not 
especially favorable, given upwardly trending fuel and 
raw material prices. We are focusing on improving the 
profitability of the cement business by raising cement 
sales prices to achieve sustainable growth.
 We have carried out a string of reforms that have 
given us a lean business structure with good cost 
competitiveness. Going forward, we intend to fully 
exploit the competitive strengths they have brought to 
our operations.
 We remain enthusiastic about providing cement-
making know-how to improve the ready-mixed concrete 
business. Keywords remain safety and security. We will 
concentrate on working with directly-run and major local 
firms, and other companies that share our vision, to raise 
the standard of quality, improve supply, and enhance 
management capabilities.
 Since the ready-mixed concrete business faces a 
tough hurdle in current conditions, it is essential that 

its members share with us in the cement industry, the 
awareness that it is important to improve our reputation. 
In this context we are advancing a strategy of focus on 
businesses with a solid reputation.

Fiscal 2012 Business Strategies

Kiyoshi Kamimura

Director, 
Managing Executive Officer, 
Cement Business Division

ANNUAL REPORT 20118



 

Shifting to High Value-Added Products and 
Overseas Markets to Power Growth

Mineral Resources Business
First and foremost in FY 2012, we are pursuing growth 
strategies as our basic direction.
 Limestone is the mainstay of the resource business. 
Here, we intend to run a high margin, high value-added 
operation to contribute to earnings. We are focusing on 
the quicklime business, followed by sales of products 
like Chiccalight (calcium nitride), a fluorescent material 
used in LEDs.
 We are also targeting overseas growth markets 
and look forward to increasing sales of Denite, a new 
material for immobilizing heavy metals that is showing 
promise as a solution for soil contamination, which in 
recent years has developed into a public issue in many 
localities.
 Second, we are revamping established lines such as 
our mineral-products and aggregates businesses. We 
are thoroughly reviewing these businesses (including 

cost factors) to improve their profitability.
 Third, we are working with the mining business 
to strengthen the profitability of our limestone quarry 
operations to ensure that it becomes independently 
profitable.
 Fourth, we are working to become more profitable 
by concentrating on promising businesses. Management 
will select some businesses to focus on from a group-
wide perspective, and withdraw from or sell others to 
improve overall profitability.
 Fifth, we are training good people. Our priority 
is to develop human resources sensitive to market 
needs in Japan and overseas and able to translate their 
understanding into doing business.
 In group management, we aim to further develop the 
high-value added quicklime and other businesses that 
play a role in our growth strategy while making rigorous 
cost cuts at limestone quarry companies. The aggregate 
business is characterized by a degree of overlap with 
products supplied by group companies, and in some 
cases subsidiaries are better at selling than we are. In 

such instances we will review the roles of each group 
company and Taiheiyo Cement Corporation so as to 
improve efficiency.
 Our business did not sustain much damage in the 
March 11 earthquake other than the breakdown of 
part of the Iwate Development Railway track used for 
transporting limestone. Our staff is keenly aware of local 
needs and is united in working to restore services as 
quickly as possible.

Shuji Fukuda

Director, 
Managing Executive Officer, 
Mineral Resources Business 
Department

9TAIHEIYO CEMENT CORPORATION



Strengthen Overseas Strategy and Pioneer New 
Businesses and Resources

Environmental Business
At the environmental business, we have six basic 
strategies for FY 2012:

1) Strengthen our overseas strategy.
2) Utilize unused plant and facilities.
3) Develop a waste processing business that does 

not rely on our cement plants.
4) Start new businesses through mergers and 

acquisitions and in cooperation with partners in 
other industry sectors.

5) Leverage environmental technologies in doing 
business abroad as well as in Japan.

6) Pioneer new uses for recycled resources.
 In licensing environmental technologies, we believe 
recycled materials will be used in cement production in 
Southeast Asia and China going forward. We anticipate 
demand for our  chlorine bypass system, our ash-
washing system that converts municipal incinerator 

ash into cement resources, and our Applied Kiln (AK) 
System.
 We are working with the recently formed Green 
Innovation Division to grasp business opportunities 
in these areas and expand our business. We believe 
opportunities will arise with local governments whose 
garbage incineration plants are coming to the end of 
their working lives.
 Group companies Ichihara Eco-Cement, Tokyo Tama 
Eco-Cement, and NACODE posted profits in FY 2011. 
This improved performance can be characterized as 
a result of their acquiring know-how for running their 
operations safely and energy-efficiently.
 In pioneering new uses for recycled resources, we 
have announced in newspapers that we developed a 
technology to retrieve phosphorus from wastewater 
so it can be used in fertilizer, in addition to established 
operations like recycling of automotive shredder residue 
(ASR) and steel slag. We also have plans to tie up with 
players in other industry sectors, such as nonferrous 
metals and consumer electronics. We intend to increase 

the intake of ASR, for which we receive a relatively large 
waste processing fee, but before we increase processing 
volume, we have to improve our chlorine removal 
capability in front-end processing because of ASR’s high 
chlorine content.
 We surmise that capacity utilization at thermal 
power plants will increase as a result of the Fukushima 
I Nuclear Power Plant crisis. Utilities have asked us to 
increase the volume of coal ash that we remove from 
thermal power plants in anticipation of an increase in 
capacity utilization, but since it is difficult to increase 
consumption of coal ash in Japan, we are exploring 
business opportunities that will allow us utilize the 
surplus coal ash 
overseas.

Nobuyuki Yamaura

Director, 
Managing Executive Officer, 
Environmental Business 
Development Department

Fiscal 2012 Business Strategies
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Expanding Downstream and into New 
Business Areas with Stable Earnings from 
Fair Prices 

International Business
In FY 2011, the overseas cement business did not attain 
its targets because of the slump in the US market. 
We forecast slight growth in US demand in FY 2012, 
however, and anticipate growth taking off again from 
2013 onward. In this context we plan to raise prices in 
2H and make a profit in FY 2012 with additional income 
from the sale of assets.
 Our second production line in Vietnam is operating 
well, with capacity utilization at close to 100% in April 
and May. Some uncertainties remain, such as power 
and coal prices, but we intend to improve our cost 
competitiveness and turn a profit amid expectations of 
strong demand growth.
 It is notable that in 2H FY 2011, business conditions 
improved at our three Chinese group companies, 
especially Jiangnan-Onoda Cement. Prices rose in 

the Yangzi River zone and have remained steady so 
far. We forecast some profit at Dalian Onoda Cement 
and Qinhuangdao Asano Cement as well, despite the 
likelihood of higher coal prices.
 We forecast more or less flat demand in South Korea, 
but we are working hard to restore prices, which fell in 
FY 2011.
 Market conditions are improving in the Philippines, 
where we are working to maintain earnings amid robust 
demand.
 As a community of individually optimized overseas 
group companies, the common goal of our International 
Business is to improve and maximize overall earnings.
 In addition to our established operations, we are 
focusing on four strategies. First, we are strengthening 
downstream operations such as aggregates and ready-
mixed concrete. We set up a ready-mixed concrete 
company adjacent to our Nghi Son Cement plant in 
Vietnam, which is scheduled to begin full commercial 
operation soon. We also plan to do more downstream 
business in the U.S. as well, depending on the financial 

condition of our subsidiaries.
 Second, we are exploring options for moving into 
new markets such as Africa, starting with exports, to lay 
the groundwork for future growth.
 Third, we plan to transfer the environmental 
technologies we have developed into new business 
areas. We are already licensing technologies in China, 
with positive results, and are focusing on finalizing more 
projects.
 Fourth, our trading business is beginning to make 
a profit by increasing the range of products we handle. 
We intend to maintain and grow the business by 
compensating for the shortage of domestic sources with 
overseas sources.

Ryuichi Hirai

Director, 
Managing Executive Officer, 
International Business Division

 

11TAIHEIYO CEMENT CORPORATION



Directors and Corporate Auditors (As of June 29, 2011)

Corporate Auditors (Standing)

Rokurou Tomita
Setsuo Nakamura

Corporate Auditors

Atsushi Takano
Ichiro Hiraki
Tomoyuki Watanabe

Executive Officers

Kohji Ishii
Kenji Ogawa
Shou Kurasaki
Takaki Minato
Hidehiko Kasamura

Yutaka Yamashita
Ken Kikuchi
Yuuichi Kitabayashi
Atsushi Itaya
Shigeru Matsushima

Board of Directors 

Directors, Senior Executive Officers Directors, Managing Executive Officers

Kiyoshi Kamimura Nobuyuki Yamaura Ryuichi Hirai

Keiji Tokuue

Vice President and Representative Director

Kunio Izawa

Hiroto Murata Hideo Fukushima

President and Representative Director

Shuji Fukuda
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Major Financial Data

Total Assets ■■

Total Assets

Net Assets ■■
Equity Ratio ■

Net Assets /
Equity Ratio

Ordinary Income ■■
Return on Assets (ROA) ■

Ordinary Income /
Return on Assets [ROA]

Net Assets per Share ■

Net Assets per Share

Interest-Bearing Debt ■■

Interest-Bearing Debt

Interest-Bearing Debt/Cash Flow ■

Interest-Bearing Debt /
Cash Flow

Capital Expenditure ■■

Capital Expenditure

Depreciation ■■

Depreciation

R&D Expense ■■

R&D Expense

Total Domestic Cement Demand ■■
Group’s Sales ■

Net Sales ■■

Net Sales

Operating Income ■■
Operating Income to Net Sales ■

Operating Income /
Operating Income to Net Sales

Net Income (Loss) ■■
Net Income (Loss) per Share ■

Net Income (Loss) /
Net Income (Loss) per Share

Return on Equity [ROE] ■

Return on Equity [ROE]Total Domestic Cement Demand /
Group’s Sales

13TAIHEIYO CEMENT CORPORATION



2010 2011 2011

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)
(Note 5)

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and deposits (Notes 6, 7 and 10) ¥ 119,437 ¥ 67,291 $ 809,267

Notes and accounts receivable – trade (Notes 6 and 10) 153,699 150,064 1,804,744

Less:  allowance for doubtful accounts (1,868) (1,810) (21,772)

151,831 148,254 1,782,972

Merchandise and finished goods 31,368 27,168 326,740

Work in process 8,084 6,167 74,163

Raw materials and supplies 36,806 35,260 424,055

Deferred tax assets (Note 18) 22,807 16,774 201,726

Other 30,020 22,022 264,854

400,353 322,936 3,883,777

Investments and other assets:
Investment securities (Notes 6, 8 and 10) 102,956 86,185 1,036,505

Long-term loans receivable 3,511 1,217 14,641

Other (Note 10) 50,060 44,312 532,910

156,527 131,714 1,584,056

Less:  allowance for doubtful accounts (8,948) (5,762) (69,298)

147,579 125,952 1,514,758

Property, plant and equipment (Notes 10 and 20):
Buildings and structures 487,397 475,183 5,714,771

Machinery, equipment and vehicles 808,394 797,894 9,595,840

Other 65,980 69,143 831,544

1,361,771 1,342,220 16,142,155

Less:  accumulated depreciation (1,038,312) (1,030,088) (12,388,312)

323,459 312,132 3,753,843

Land (Notes 10 and 14) 169,027 153,479 1,845,812

Construction in progress 37,778 15,367 184,802

530,264 480,978 5,784,457

Goodwill and other intangible assets 53,991 46,703 561,669

Deferred tax assets (Note 18) 23,070 20,891 251,253

Total assets ¥ 1,155,257 ¥ 997,460 $ 11,995,914

Consolidated Balance Sheets
FINANCIAL SECTION

Taiheiyo Cement Corporation and Subsidiaries for the years ended 31st March, 2010 and 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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2010 2011 2011

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)
(Note 5)

Liabilities and net assets
Current liabilities:

Short-term loans payable (Notes 6, 7, 9 and 10) ¥ 223,300 ¥ 218,505 $ 2,627,837

Current portion of long-term loans payable (Notes 7, 9 and 10) 112,149 86,528 1,040,621

Commercial papers(Note 6 ) 46,000 12,000 144,317

Notes and accounts payable – trade (Notes 6, 7 and 10) 82,958 78,758 947,179

Income taxes payable (Note 18) 2,848 3,323 39,970

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 18) 535 439 5,283

Other (Note 10) 85,677 73,325 881,836

553,467 472,878 5,687,043

Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term loans payable (Notes 6, 7, 9 and 10) 303,919 260,678 3,135,039

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 18) 27,682 22,304 268,233

Provision for retirement benefits (Note 11) 35,413 23,945 287,977

Provision for directors’ retirement benefits 793 627 7,538

Provision for asset removal (Note 4) — 2,427 29,189

Asset retirement obligations (Note 25) — 6,251 75,181

Other provision 363 331 3,975

Other (Note 10) 45,433 42,481 510,902

413,603 359,044 4,318,034

Contingent liabilities (Note 12)

Net assets (Note 13):
Shareholders’ equity:
 Capital stock:
  Authorized: 1,977,308,000 shares Issued: 950,300,586 shares in 2010 and 2011 69,499 69,499 835,830

 Capital surplus 60,384 33,962 408,446

 Retained earnings 52,754 81,599 981,343

 Treasury stock (9,673,928 shares in 2010 and 9,478,784 shares in 2011) (961) (919) (11,048)

Accumulated other comprehensive income:
Revaluation reserve for land (Note 14) 4,504 4,448 53,489

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities 6,586 2,319 27,892

Deferred gains or losses on hedges 6 55 660

Adjustments for employee retirement benefit of overseas subsidiary (2,468) (2,446) (29,423)

Foreign currency translation adjustments (37,116) (49,357) (593,586)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income (28,488) (44,981) (540,968)

Minority interests 34,999 26,378 317,234

Total net assets 188,187 165,538 1,990,837

Total liabilities and net assets ¥ 1,155,257 ¥ 997,460 $ 11,995,914
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2010 2011 2011

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)
(Note 5)

Net Sales ¥ 728,582 ¥ 726,476 $ 8,736,927

Cost of sales (Note 15) 599,519 590,083 7,096,597

 Gross profit 129,063 136,393 1,640,330

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Notes 16 and 17) 125,490 119,960 1,442,695

 Operating income 3,573 16,433 197,635

Non-operating income (expenses):
 Interest and dividends income 1,923 1,679 20,197

 Interest expenses (9,787) (9,541) (114,741)

 Gain (loss) on sales/disposal of property, plant and equipment (1,046) 20,430 245,697

 Gain on sales of investment securities 261 1,918 23,068

 Loss on liquidation of subsidiaries and affiliates (27) (859) (10,331)

 Loss on valuation of stocks of subsidiaries and affiliates (837) (1,842) (22,157)

 Provision of allowance for doubtful accounts (829) — —

 Equity in earnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates 4,069 1,929 23,201

 Loss on change in equity of subsidiaries and affiliates (158) — —

 Impairment loss (Note 20) (4,782) (1,876) (22,558)

 Loss on business withdrawal (Note 21) (906) (1,359) (16,339)

 Loss on transfer of business (150) (364) (4,380)

 Business structure reform costs(Note 22) (32,227) — —

 Loss on adjustment for changes of accounting standard for asset 
  retirement obligations

— (4,056) (48,782)

 Loss on disaster(Note 15 and 23) — (9,206) (110,717)

 Other, net (1,232) 2,431 29,222

(45,728) (716) (8,620)

Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests (42,155) 15,717 189,015

Income taxes (Note 18):

 Current 422 5,252 63,156

 Deferred (6,187) 5,244 63,070

(5,765) 10,496 126,226

 Net income (loss) before minority interests (36,390) 5,221 62,789

Minority interests 652 59 706

 Net income (loss) ¥ (37,042) ¥ 5,162 $ 62,083

(Yen) (U.S. dollars) (Note 5)

Per share (Note 4 (12)):

 Net income (loss)

  Basic ¥ (39.50) ¥ 5.49 $0.07

  Diluted — 5.46 0.07

 Cash dividends — 2.50 0.03

2011 2011

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)
(Note 5)

Income before minority interests ¥ 5,221 $ 62,789

Other comprehensive income:

 Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities (4,175) (50,205)

 Deferred gains or losses on hedges 25 299

 Foreign currency translation adjustments (11,771) (141,563)

 Adjustments for employee retirement benefit of overseas subsidiary 22 259

 Share of other comprehensive income of affiliates accounted
  for using equity method

(2,419) (29,086)

Total other comprehensive income (Note 24) (18,318) (220,296)

Comprehensive income ¥ (13,097) $ (157,507)

Comprehensive income attributable to:

 Shareholders of Taiheiyo Cement Corporation ¥ (11,311) $ (136,028)

 Minority interests ¥ (1,786) $ (21,479)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FINANCIAL SECTION

Taiheiyo Cement Corporation and Subsidiaries for the years ended 31st March, 2010 and 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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(Millions of yen)

Shareholders’ equity Accumulated other comprehensive income

Minority interests Total
net assetsCapital

stock
Capital
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury
 stock

Revaluation
reserve for

land

Valuation
difference on
available-for

-sale securities

Deferred gains
or losses on

hedges

Adjustments for 
employee retirement 
benefit of overseas 

subsidiary

Foreign 
currency translation 

adjustments

Balance at 31st March, 2009 ¥ 69,499 ¥ 60,745 ¥ 89,743 ¥ (1,702) ¥ 4,560 ¥ 4,952 ¥ (97) ¥ (2,567) ¥ (41,379) ¥ 36,284 ¥ 220,038

 Net loss (37,041) (37,041)

 Reversal of revaluation reserve for land 58 58

 Purchase of treasury stock (787) (787)

 Disposal of treasury stock 1 10 11

 Change in scope of consolidation (6) (6)

 Change by share exchanges (362) 1,518 1,156

 Net changes in items other than shareholders’ equity (56) 1,634 103 99 4,263 (1,285) 4,758

Balance at 31st March, 2010 ¥ 69,499 ¥ 60,384 ¥ 52,754 ¥ (961) ¥ 4,504 ¥ 6,586 ¥ 6 ¥ (2,468) ¥ (37,116) ¥ 34,999 ¥ 188,187

 Net income 5,162 5,162

 Reversal of revaluation reserve for land 55 55

 Purchase of treasury stock (15) (15)

 Disposal of treasury stock (1) 1 0

 Change in scope of consolidation (444) (444)

 Decrease by merger of subsidiaries (78) (1) (79)

 Decrease of affiliates accounted for by equity method (2,271) 57 (2,214)

 Deficit disposition (26,421) 26,421 —

 Net changes in items other than shareholders’ equity (56) (4,267) 49 22 (12,241) (8,621) (25,114)

Balance at 31st March, 2011 ¥ 69,499 ¥ 33,962 ¥ 81,599 ¥ (919) ¥ 4,448 ¥ 2,319 ¥ 55 ¥ (2,446) ¥ (49,357) ¥ 26,378 ¥ 165,538

(Thousands of U.S. dollars) (Note 5)

Shareholders’ equity Accumulated other comprehensive income

Minority interests Total
net assetsCapital

stock
Capital
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury
 stock

Revaluation
reserve for

land

Valuation
difference on
available-for

-sale securities

Deferred gains
or losses on

hedges

Adjustments for 
employee retirement 
benefit of overseas 

subsidiary

Foreign 
currency translation 

adjustments

Balance at 31st March, 2010 $ 835,830 $ 726,210 $ 634,440 $ (11,554) $ 54,156 $ 79,211 $ 74 $ (29,681) $ (446,374) $ 420,914 $ 2,263,226

 Net income 62,083 62,083

 Reversal of revaluation reserve for land 665 665

 Purchase of treasury stock (178) (178)

 Disposal of treasury stock (7) 17 10

 Change in scope by consolidation (5,346) (5,346)

 Decrease by merger of subsidiaries (943) (16) (959)

 Decrease of affiliates accounted for by equity method (27,313) 683 (26,630)

 Deficit disposition (317,757) 317,757 —

 Net changes in items other than shareholders’ equity (667) (51,319) 586 258 (147,212) (103,680) (302,034)

Balance at 31st March, 2011 $ 835,830 $ 408,446 $ 981,343 $ (11,048) $ 53,489 $ 27,892 $ 660 $ (29,423) $ (593,586) $ 317,234 $ 1,990,837

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
Taiheiyo Cement Corporation and Subsidiaries for the years ended 31st March, 2010 and 2011
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2010 2011 2011

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)
(Note 5)

Net cash provided by operating activities
Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests ¥ (42,155) ¥ 15,717 $ 189,015

Depreciation and amortization 48,717 43,097 518,305

Amortization of goodwill 3,233 3,181 38,257

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates (4,069) (1,929) (23,201)

Loss on change in equity of subsidiaries and affiliates 158 — —

Gain on sales of investment securities (261) (1,918) (23,068)

Loss on liquidation of subsidiaries and affiliates 27 859 10,331

Loss on valuation of stocks of subsidiaries and affiliates 837 1,842 22,157

Decrease in provision for retirement benefits and directors’ 
 retirement benefits (480) (2,482) (29,851)

Decrease in provision for directors’ bonuses (19) — —

Decrease in allowance for doubtful accounts (688) (3,097) (37,248)

Interest and dividends income (1,923) (1,679) (20,197)

Interest expenses 9,787 9,541 114,741

Gain (loss) on sales/disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,046 (20,430) (245,697)

Impairment loss 4,782 1,876 22,558

Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable – trade 19,166 (3,571) (42,941)

Decrease in inventories 17,329 5,196 62,489

(Decrease) increase in notes and accounts payable – trade (17,726) 717 8,629

Loss on transfer of business 150 364 4,380

Business structure reform costs 32,227 — —

Loss on adjustment for changes of accounting standard for asset 
 retirement obligations — 4,056 48,782

Decrease in provision for business structure reform — (14,746) (177,345)

Increase in provision for asset removal — 2,427 29,189

Loss on disaster — 9,206 110,717

Other, net (10,607) (1,956) (23,523)

 Subtotal 59,531 46,271 556,479

Interest and dividends income received 2,916 2,092 25,156

Interest expenses paid (10,027) (9,569) (115,082)

Income taxes paid (3,598) (1,799) (21,630)

Net cash provided by operating activities 48,822 36,995 444,923

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Increase in time deposits (1,194) (357) (4,295)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (38,703) (27,143) (326,430)

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 6,326 31,154 374,666

Purchase of investment securities (517) (588) (7,076)

Proceeds from sale of investment securities 7,816 11,982 144,100

Payments of loans receivable (2,701) (2,030) (24,412)

Collections of loans receivable 2,704 3,052 36,710

Other, net (Note 7) 2,258 (1,892) (22,753)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities ¥ (24,011) ¥ 14,178 $ 170,510

2010 2011 2011

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)
(Note 5)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Decrease in short-term loans payable ¥ (8,794) ¥ (7,345) $ (88,338)

Proceeds from long-term loans payable 74,456 63,853 767,928

Repayment of long-term loans payable (52,064) (87,924) (1,057,409)

Proceeds from issuance of bonds 10,490 10,800 129,886

Redemption of bonds (796) (21,371) (257,016)

Increase (decrease) in commercial papers 24,000 (34,000) (408,900)

Purchase of treasury stocks (787) (14) (170)

Cash dividends paid to minority shareholders (804) (762) (9,160)

Proceeds from sales of treasury stock 7 1 9

Redemption of bonds with subscription rights to shares (12,000) (22,000) (264,582)

Other, net (1,373) (1,718) (20,670)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 32,335 (100,480) (1,208,422)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 236 (2,862) (34,422)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 57,382 (52,169) (627,411)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 56,299 113,480 1,364,766

Increase in cash and cash equivalents resulting from merger of 
unconsolidated subsidiaries

162 105 1,270

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents resulting from corporate 
division

(127) – –

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents resulting from change of 
scope of consolidation

(236) (151) (1,819)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 7) ¥113,480 ¥ 61,265 $ 736,806

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
FINANCIAL SECTION

Taiheiyo Cement Corporation and Subsidiaries for the years ended 31st March, 2010 and 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Taiheiyo Cement Corporation and Subsidiaries for the years ended 31st March, 2010 and 2011

<Yen in millions and U.S. dollars in thousands, except Note 2 (1) and 
(2) and share capital amounts in Note 2, conversion price of convertible 
bonds and per share amounts and unless otherwise indicated.>

1. Basis of Presentation of the Consolidated Financial 
 Statements

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Taiheiyo Cement 
Corporation (the “Company”) and consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, 
the “Companies”) are prepared on the basis of accounting principles 
generally accepted in Japan, which are different in certain respects as 
to the application and disclosure requirements of International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and are compiled from the consolidated financial 
statements prepared by the Company as required by the Financial 
Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan.
  In preparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements, 
certain items presented in the consolidated financial statements 
filed with the Directors of Kanto Finance Bureau in Japan have been 
reclassified and/or recapitulated in these accounts and certain notes 
have been added for the convenience of readers outside Japan and to 
conform to the current year presentation.

2. Scope of Consolidation and Investments in Unconsolidated 
 Subsidiaries and Affiliates

Under Japanese accounting standards, a subsidiary and an affiliate are 
defined as follows:
· a subsidiary:  a company in which the reporting entity directly or 

indirectly holds more than 50% of the voting rights 
there of or which is deemed to be controlled directly or 
indirectly by the reporting entity; and

· an affiliate:  a company in which the reporting entity directly or 
indirectly holds 20% or more of the voting rights thereof 
or in which the reporting entity is deemed to exercise 
significant influence directly or indirectly on its decision 
making.

(1) Scope of Consolidation

The numbers of subsidiaries the Company had for the years ended 31st 
March, 2010 and 2011 were 300 and 261, respectively, of which 167 and 
149, respectively, were consolidated in the respective years.

  The significant subsidiaries that have been consolidated by the 
Company are listed below:
Consolidated subsidiaries Equity ownership*

(%)
Share capital*

(Millions of yen)
(Domstic)

NM Cement Co., Ltd. 70.0 ¥ 7,001
Clion Co., Ltd. 96.4 6,189
Mitsui Wharf Co., Ltd. 100.0 3,500
Myojo Cement Co., Ltd. 100.0 2,500
Nihon Ceratec Co., Ltd. 100.0 2,826
Taiheiyo Material Corporation 100.0 1,631
Tsuruga Cement Co., Ltd. 64.7 1,050

(Millions of
U.S. dollars)

(Overseas)
Taiheiyo Cement U.S.A., Inc. (USA) 100.0 $ 63.5
CalPortland Company (USA) 100.0 24.2
Jiangnan-Onoda Cement Co., Ltd. (CHINA) 88.5 134.3
DalianOnoda Cement Co., Ltd. (CHINA) 84.8 82.8
Qinhuangdao Asano Cement Co., Ltd. (CHINA) 71.9 93.1
Nghi Son Cement Corporation (VIETNAM) 65.0 180.2

 * as of 31st March, 2011

  The remaining 112 unconsolidated subsidiaries for the year ended 
31st March, 2011 (133 for the year ended 31st March, 2010) have not 
been consolidated with the Company since the total assets, net sales, 
retained earnings, and net income of those companies in the aggregate 
were not significant in relation to those of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Companies.

(2) Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries and Affiliates

For the year ended 31st March, 2011, the Company had 113 affiliates 
(135 for the year ended 31st March, 2010), of which 40 affiliates (48 
for the year ended 31st March, 2010) were accounted for by the equity 
method, as are 12 unconsolidated subsidiaries (16 for the year ended 
31st March, 2010).
  Investments in the remaining 100 unconsolidated subsidiaries and 
73 affiliates (117 and 87, respectively, for the year ended 31st March, 
2010) were carried at cost due to the immateriality of these entities 
in relation to the consolidated financial position and the results of 
operations of the Companies.

 The unconsolidated subsidiaries and significant affiliates, to which the 
equity method was applied, include:
Unconsolidated subsidiaries/affiliates Equity ownership*

(%)
Share capital*

(Millions of yen)
(Domstic)

DC Co., Ltd. 31.6 ¥ 4,013
A&A Material Corporation 42.6 3,889
Fuji P.S Corporation 21.1 2,379
Azuma Shipping Co., Ltd. 38.3 2,294
Yakushima Denko Co., Ltd. 49.5 2,006
Asahi Concrete Works Co., Ltd. 21.7 1,204

(Billions of  
Korean Won)

(Overseas)
Ssangyong Cement Industrial Co., Ltd. (SOUTH KOREA) 32.3 401.5

 * as of 31st March, 2011

  For subsidiaries and affiliates which are accounted for by the equity 
method and of which net assets are negative, ¥1,971 ($23,700) has been 
directly deducted from “Investments in and advances to unconsolidated 
subsidiaries and affiliates” in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets as of 31st March, 2011 by taking into account the amounts of 
loans to and guarantees for those companies (¥7,629 as of 31st March, 
2010).

3. Consolidation Policies

For consolidation purposes, all significant inter-company transactions, 
account balances and unrealized profit/loss arising from inter-company 
transactions have been eliminated.
  Where the year-end dates of consolidated subsidiaries and 
unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates accounted for by the equity 
method are different from that of the Company, necessary adjustments 
have been made for any significant transactions that took place between 
such different year-end dates.
  Adjustments are made to eliminate the depreciation of assets 
related to unrealized profits incurred from inter-company transactions 
among the Companies.
  The difference between the purchase cost of an investment in a 
consolidated subsidiary and the amount of the underlying equity in net 
assets at fair value of such subsidiary is directly charged/credited, as 
the case may be, against income for the year unless such difference is 
material.  If the difference is material and the effective period is able to 
be estimated, the difference is amortized over the relevant estimated 
effective periods.
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Significant accounting policies employed by the Company and its 
consolidated subsidiaries in preparing the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements are outlined below:

(1) Inventories

Generally, inventories are stated at cost, which is determined by the 
moving average method.  Appropriate write-downs are recorded for 
inventories, which are deemed impaired in value.  However the cost for 
contract work in process is determined by the specific identification cost 
method.  Inventories held by the consolidated subsidiaries in the U.S.A. 
are valued at the lower of cost or market, cost being determined by the 
average method.

(2) Property, Plant and Equipment (Excluding Lease Assets)

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost.
  Depreciation is computed generally based on the declining-balance 
method by the Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries at 
rates based on the estimated useful lives of assets.  The depreciation of 
buildings, excluding leasehold improvements, purchased on and after 1st 
April, 1998 is computed based on the straight-line method.
  Depreciation of property and equipment held by the subsidiaries in 
foreign countries is calculated by the straight-line method in accordance 
with accounting standards generally accepted in the respective 
countries.
  The range of useful lives is summarized as follows:
    Buildings and structures 10 – 75 years
    Machinery and equipment 4 – 15 years
  Normal repairs and maintenance, including minor renewals and 
improvements, are charged to income as incurred.

(3) Intangible Fixed Assets (Excluding Lease Assets)

Intangible fixed assets are amortized by the straight-line method.
  Capitalized software is amortized by the straight-line method over 
the estimated useful lives (basically 5 years).

(4) Lease Assets

Lease assets are depreciated down to a residual value of either zero 
or the amount calculated as their residual guarantee value, over their 
lease.  The method of accounting for finance lease transactions that 
do not transfer ownership has changed from as rental transactions to 
sales/purchase transactions, recognizing them as lease assets.  The 
lease transaction on or before 31st March, 2008 is treated as rental 
transactions.

(5) Financial Instruments

(a) Derivatives
All derivatives, except for derivatives that are designated as “hedging 
instruments” (see (c) Hedge Accounting below), are stated at fair value, 
and changes in fair value are included in the determination of net profit 
or loss for the period in which they arise.

(b) Securities
Securities are classified in accordance with Japanese accounting 
standards into four categories, namely, trading securities, held-to-
maturity debt securities, shares in equity of subsidiaries and affiliates, 
and available-for-sale securities. 
  Trading securities and certain financial instruments that meet strict 
conditions are categorized as current assets, and all other securities 
other than investments in consolidated subsidiaries are shown as 
“Investments in securities” in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets, as the case may be.
  Valuation of securities is as follows:
  Trading securities are valued at fair market value at the year-end 
and the resulting valuation gain/loss is charged to income;
  Held-to-maturity debt securities are valued by applying amortization/
accumulation unless impairments in value are to be recognized;
and
  With respect to other securities, such securities with market values 
are valued at fair market value and those without market values are 
valued at cost unless impairments in the value of those investments are 
to be recognized.  The unrealized gain/loss resulting from the valuation 
of other securities at year-end is shown as “Valuation difference on 
available-for-sale securities,” net of deferred income taxes thereon, in 
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  Cost of securities sold 
is determined by the moving-average method.
  When market values of other securities are 50% of the cost or lower 

at the end of the financial year, such securities are written down to such 
market value.  With respect to other securities of which market values 
have declined between 30% and 50% of the respective costs, amounts 
to be written off are determined by considering the recoverability of the 
respective securities.

(c) Hedge Accounting
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives 
designated as hedging instruments are deferred as “Deferred gains or 
losses on hedges,” net of deferred income taxes, in net assets.  Such 
gains or losses are included in net profit or loss in the same period 
during which the gains and losses on the hedged items or transactions 
are recognized.
  The derivatives designated as hedging instruments are principally 
interest swaps and forward exchange contracts.  The related hedged 
items are trade accounts receivable and payable, long-term bank loans, 
raw materials swaps, and debt securities.
  The Company has a policy to utilize the above hedging instruments 
in order to reduce the exposure to the risk of interest rate and foreign 
exchange fluctuations.  Thus, the purchases of the hedging instruments 
are limited to, at maximum, the amounts of the hedged items.  
Effectiveness of hedging activities is evaluated by reference to the 
accumulated gains or losses on the hedging instruments and the related 
hedged items from the commencement of the hedges.

(6) Foreign Currency Translation

(Translation of foreign currency financial statements of overseas 
subsidiaries and affiliates)
  Exchange rates at the balance sheet date are applied for all 
assets and liabilities and the historical exchange rates are applied to 
shareholders’ equity whereas profit and loss items are translated at 
the average exchange rates prevailing during the year.  Items related 
to inter-company transactions with the Company which are subject to 
elimination on consolidation are translated in the amounts the Company 
recorded. 
  The difference in the debits and credits in the balance sheets 
resulting from the translation in the above manner is shown as 
“Foreign currency translation adjustments” in the shareholders’ equity 
of the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, net of the amount 
attributable to minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FINANCIAL SECTION

Taiheiyo Cement Corporation and Subsidiaries for the years ended 31st March, 2010 and 2011
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(Translation of foreign currency items)
Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies were 
translated into Japanese yen at the exchange rates at the balance 
sheet date.  Gains or losses arising from transactions in foreign currency 
receivables and payables are credited or charged to income as incurred.

(7) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows 
consist of cash on hand, bank deposits readily available, and short-term 
investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased.

(8) Income Taxes

Deferred tax accounting is applied for the preparation of the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements.  The asset and liability 
approach is used to recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities in 
respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the 
tax base of assets and liabilities.

(9) Recognition of Certain Accrued Expenses

In general, the accrual basis of accounting for all income and expense 
items is followed for the preparation of the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements.

(a) Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for doubtful accounts is provided based on the estimated 
uncollectible amounts of doubtful receivables, in addition to a 
general provision computed by applying past credit loss experience.  
Consolidated overseas subsidiaries mainly provide for such allowance at 
the estimated amounts of credit losses.

(b) Provision for retirement benefits
(Retirement benefits to employees)
Employees are generally entitled to lump-sum retirement and/or annuity 
upon termination of services, the amount of which is determined in 
light of the regulations set forth within the relevant companies of the 
Companies.  As a part of such employees’ retirement benefit scheme, the 
Company and certain subsidiaries have non-contributory pension funds.
  Provision for retirement benefits to employees are provided for in 
the amount of projected benefit obligation less the fair value of plan 
assets at the end of the financial year.

  The actuarial gains and losses and prior service cost are being 
amortized by the straight-line method over the certain number of years 
within the expected remaining years of service of the then-active 
employee participants (primarily 10 years), corresponding the year 
following the year in which they arise and effective the period in which 
they arise, respectively.
  The Company established a retirement benefit trust by contributing 
a certain shares of stock.
  When the value of plan assets exceeds the amount of the projected 
benefit obligation minus both the actuarial gains and losses and prior 
service costs, the amount of such excess is included as prepaid pension 
costs in “Other” in “Investment, advances and other assets.”

(Retirement benefits to directors and corporate auditors)
As is customary practice in Japan, some consolidated subsidiaries 
pay lump-sum retirement benefits to retiring directors or corporate 
auditors, the amount of which is determined by the internal rules similar 
to those for employees.  The payment of such retirement benefits is 
subject to approval by shareholders at the annual general meeting.  
The consolidated subsidiaries recognize 100% of the amounts the 
consolidated subsidiaries would have paid if all directors and statutory 
auditors had retired at the year-end.

(c) Provision for directors’ bonuses
Domestic consolidated subsidiaries account for allowance for directors’ 
bonuses based on the estimated amount of payment for the current year.

(d) Provision for loss on assignment of business
With respect to assignment of all businesses of the electrics subsidiary, 
an estimated cost to be incurred is provided for.

(e) Provision for loss on the disasters
For resuming assets damaged by the Great East Japan Earthquake, an 
estimated cost to be incurred in and after the next fiscal year is provided 
for.

(f)  Provision for assets removal
In anticipation of dismantling assets, an estimated cost to be incurred is 
provided for.

(10) Method and Period of Amortization of Goodwill

Goodwill is amortized over the estimated years in cases that the number 
of years can be estimated based on practical judgment starting from 
the fiscal year of acquisition while the entire amount of goodwill is 
amortized in the fiscal year of acquisition without analyzing the causes in 
cases that the amount of goodwill is insignificant.

(11) Appropriation of Retained Earnings

Under the Corporation Law of Japan, the appropriations of retained 
earnings, including year-end cash dividends, are subject to shareholders’ 
approval at the annual general meeting to be held within three months 
after the respective periods.  The board of directors is allowed to make 
interim cash distributions (“interim cash dividends”) with certain strict 
conditions stipulated in the Law.
  The appropriation of retained earnings shown in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of net assets reflects the results of the 
appropriation of retained earnings applicable to the immediately 
preceding year and approved at the shareholders’ meeting and the 
interim cash dividends made during the current year.

(12) Accounting for Treasury Stock

The shares of the Company held by consolidated subsidiaries are 
recognized as treasury stock after netting off the amounts attributable 
to minority interests.  With respect to those shares held by affiliates 
to which the equity method is applied, the amounts attributable to the 
Companies are also recorded as treasury stock in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets, and debit/credit differences (gain/loss) 
incurred from transactions involving treasury stocks are charged to 
additional paid-in capital.

(13) Per Share Information

Net income per share is computed based on the weighted-average 
number of shares of common stock outstanding during the respective 
periods.
  The amount of cash dividends is the total of interim cash dividends 
paid during the respective periods and dividends declared as applicable 
to the respective periods.
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(14) Changes in Accounting Policy

(a) Recognizing Revenues and Costs of Construction 
Until the year ended 31st March, 2009, revenues and costs of 
construction contracts were reorganized by the completed-contract 
method.  Effective 1st April, 2009, the Company and its consolidated 
subsidiaries have applied the “Accounting Standard for Construction 
Contracts” (ASBJ statement No. 15) and “Guidance on Accounting 
Standard for Construction Contracts” (ASBJ Guidance No. 18).  Under 
the new accounting standard and guidance, revenues and cost of 
construction contracts that commenced on or after, 1st April, 2009, 
of which the percentage of completion can be reliably estimated, are 
recognized by the percentage-of-completion method.  The percentage 
of completion is calculated at the cost incurred as a percentage of the 
estimated total cost.  The completed-contract method continues to be 
applied for contracts for which the percentage of completion cannot be 
reliably estimated.
  The effect of this change was immaterial to the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2010.

(b)  Application of Partial Amendments to Accounting Standard 
for Retirement Benefits (Part 3)

Effective 1st April, 2009, “Partical Amendments to Accounting Standard 
for Retirement Benefits” (ASBJ Statement No. 19), has been applied.
  The application of this policy had no impact on operating income 
and loss before Income taxes and minority interests for the year ended 
31st March, 2010.

(c)  Application of Accounting Standard for Equity Method of 
Accounting for Investments

Effective 1st April, 2010, the Company adopted the “Accounting 
Standard for Equity Method of Accounting for Investments” (ASBJ 
Statement No. 16 issued on 10th March, 2008) and “Practical Solution 
on Unification of Accounting Policies Applied to Associates Accounted 
for Using the Equity Method” (ASBJ Practical Issues Task Force (PITF) 
No. 24 issued on 10th March, 2008).
  The effect of this change was immaterial to the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2011.

(d)  Application of Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement 
Obligations

Effective 1st April, 2010, the Company adopted the “Accounting 
Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations” (ASBJ Statement No. 18 

issued on 31st March, 2008) and the “Guidance on Accounting Standard 
for Asset Retirement Obligations” (ASBJ Guidance No. 21 issued on 31st 
March, 2008).
  The effect of adopting this new standard was to decrease operating 
income by ¥164 ($1,970), and income before income taxes and minority 
interests by ¥4,246 ($51,076), respectively.

(e)  Application of Accounting Standard for Business 
Combinations and Related Matters.

Effective 1st April, 2010, the Company adopted the “Accounting 
Standard for Business Combinations” (ASBJ Statement No. 21 issued 
on 26th December, 2008), the “Accounting Standard for Consolidated 
Financial Statements” (ASBJ Statement No. 22 issued on 26th 
December, 2008), the “Partial amendments to Accounting Standard for 
Research and Development Costs” (ASBJ Statement No. 23 issued on 
26th December, 2008), the “Revised Accounting Standard for Business 
Divestitures” (ASBJ Statement No. 7 (Revised 2008) issued on 26th 
December, 2008), the “Revised Accounting Standard for Equity Method 
of Accounting for Investments” (ASBJ Statement No. 16 (Revised 
2008) issued on 26th December, 2008) and the “Revised Guidance 
on Accounting Standard for Business Combinations and Accounting 
Standard for Business Divestitures” (ASBJ Guidance No. 10 (Revised 
2008) issued on 26th December, 2008).

(15) Additional Information

(a)   The Company enters into the syndicated loan contract, for which the 
arrangers are Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd. and Sumitomo Mitsui 
Banking Corporation.  Although the Company was in violation of 
the loan covenant at 31st March, 2010, the Company obtained 
agreements by all related financial institutions to waive their rights 
to call the loan.

(b)   Effective the year ended 31st March, 2011, the Company adopted 
the “Accounting Standard for Presentation of Comprehensive 
Income” (ASBJ statement No. 25 issued on 30th June, 2010).  In 
accordance with this new standard, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income for the year ended 31st March, 2010 is not 
presented.  The comparative information for the year ended 31st 
March, 2010 is disclosed in Note 24. 

(c)   Effective 1st April, 2010, the Company adopted the "Revised 
Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Segments of an 

Enterprise and Related information" (ASBJ Statement No. 17 
(Revised 2009) issued on 27th March, 2009) and the “Guidance on 
the Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Segments of an 
Enterprise and Related information (ASBJ Guidance No. 20 issued 
on 21st March, 2008).

5. United States Dollar Amounts

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in 
Japanese yen.  The U.S. dollar amounts included in the consolidated 
financial statements and notes thereto represent the arithmetical results 
of translating Japanese yen to U.S. dollars on a basis of ¥83.15 = U.S.$1, 
the approximate effective rate of exchange prevailing at 31st March, 
2011.  The inclusion of such U.S. dollar amounts is solely for convenience 
of the readers and is not intended to imply that yen amounts have been 
or could be converted, realized or settled in U.S. dollars at that or any 
other rate.

6. Financial Instruments

Effective for the year ended 31st March, 2010, the “Accounting Standard 
for Financial Instruments” (ASBJ Statement No. 10 (revised 2008)) and 
the “Guidance on Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments” 
(ASBJ Guidance No. 19) have been adopted.

(1) Status of Financial Instruments

(a) Policy for financial instruments
In consideration of plans for capital investment, the Company and 
its consolidated subsidiaries limits the scope of its cash and fund 
management activities to short-term deposits.  In addition, when 
raising funds, the Companies have a policy of relying principally on bank 
borrowings.  The Companies use derivatives for the purpose of reducing 
risk and do not enter into derivatives for speculative or trading purposes.

(b) Types of financial instruments and related risk
Notes and accounts receivable – trade are exposed to credit risk in 
relation to customers.  In addition, the Companies are exposed to foreign 
currency exchange risk arising from receivables denominated in foreign 
currencies.
  Marketable securities and investment securities are exposed to 
market risk.  Those securities are the shares of common stock of other 
companies with which the Companies have business relationships, 
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or affiliated companies.  The Companies have also long-term 
loans receivable from other companies with which it has business 
relationships.
  Substantially all notes and accounts payable – trade have payment 
due dates within one year.  The Companies are exposed to foreign 
currency exchange risk arising from those payables that is originated 
from import transactions of fuels.
  Short-term borrowings are raised mainly in connection with business 
activities, and long-term loans payable, bonds payable and convertible 
bonds are taken out principally for the purpose of making capital 
investments.  Long-term loans payable have covenants commitments and 
may influence liquidity risks regarding fund raising activities.  Long-term 
debt with variable interest rates is exposed to interest rate fluctuation 
risk.  However, to reduce such risk and fix interest expense for long-term 
debt bearing interest at variable rates, the Companies utilize interest rate 
swap transactions as a hedging instrument.

(c) Risk management for financial instruments
(i)   Management of credit risk (the risk that customers or counterparties 

may default) 
  In accordance with the internal policies of the Companies for 
managing credit risk arising from receivables, each related division 
monitors credit worthiness of their main customers periodically, 
and monitors due dates and outstanding balances by individual 
customer.  In addition, the Companies are making efforts to identify 
and mitigate risks of bad debts from customers who are having 
financial difficulties. 
  The Companies also believe that the credit risk of derivatives 
is insignificant as it enters into derivative transactions only with 
financial institutions which have a sound credit profile. 
  At the balance sheet date, the carrying values of the financial 
assets represent the maximum credit risk exposures of the 
Companies.

(ii)   Management of market risks (the risks arising from fluctuations in 
foreign exchange rates, interest rates and others) 
  In order to mitigate the interest rate risk for loans payable 
bearing interest at variable rates, the Companies may also enter into 
interest rate swap transactions.  
  For a part of purchasing raw materials, in order to mitigate the 
price volatility risk for raw materials, the companies may also enter 
into raw materials swap transactions. 
  For investment securities, the Companies periodically review 

the fair values of such financial instruments and the financial 
position of the issuers.  In conducting derivative transactions, the 
division in charge of each derivative transaction follows the internal 
policies, which set forth delegation of authority and maximum upper 
limit on positions.

(iii)  Management of liquidity risk (the risk that the Companies may not 
be able to meet its obligations on scheduled due dates) 
  Trade payables and borrowings are exposed to liquidity risk.  
Based on the report from each division, the Companies prepare and 
update its cash flow plans on a timely basis to manage liquidity risk.

(d)  Supplementary explanation of the estimated fair value of 
financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted market 
price, if available.  When there is no quoted market price available, fair 
value is reasonably estimated.  Since various assumptions and factors 
are reflected in estimating the fair value, different assumptions and 
factors could result in different fair value.  In addition, the notional 
amounts of derivatives in Note 27 “Derivative Transactions” are not 
necessarily indicative of the actual market risk involved in derivative 
transactions.

(2) Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Carrying value of financial instruments on the consolidated balance 
sheet as of 31st March, 2011 is shown in the following table.  The 
following table does not include financial instruments for which it is 
extremely difficult to determine the fair value (Please refer to Note 2 
below).

Carrying value Estimated
fair value Difference

Assets
1) Cash and deposits ¥ 67,291 ¥ 67,291 ¥ –
2) Notes and accounts receivable−trade 150,064 150,064 –
3) Investment securities

Other securities 54,382 37,736 (16,646)
Total assets ¥ 271,737 ¥ 255,091 ¥ (16,646)
Liabilities
1) Notes and accounts payable−trade ¥ 78,758 ¥ 78,758 ¥ –
2) Short-term loans payable 218,505 218,505 –
3) Commercial paper 12,000 12,000 –
4) Bonds payable 72,280 71,956 (324)
5) Long−term loans payable 263,386 265,984 2,598
Total liabilities ¥ 644,929 ¥ 647,203 ¥ 2,274
Derivatives transaction (*1) ¥ (1,111) ¥ (1,111) ¥ –

Carrying value Estimated
fair value Difference

Assets
1) Cash and deposits $ 809,267 $ 809,267 $ –
2) Notes and accounts receivable−trade 1,804,744 1,804,744 –
3) Investment securities

Other securities 654,024 453,836 (200,188)
Total assets $ 3,268,035 $ 3,067,847 $ (200,188)
Liabilities
1) Notes and accounts payable−trade $ 947,179 $ 947,179 $ –
2) Short-term loans payable 2,627,838 2,627,838 –
3) Commercial paper 144,317 144,317 –
4) Bonds payable 869,272 865,374 (3,898)
5) Long-term loans payable 3,167,611 3,198,847 31,236
Total liabilities $ 7,756,217 $ 7,783,555 $ 27,338
Derivatives transaction (*1) $ (13,360) $ (13,360) $ –

(*1)    The value of assets and liabilities arising from derivatives 
is shown at net value, and with the amount in parentheses 
representing net liability position.

Note 1  Methods to determine the estimated fair value of financial 
instruments and other matters related to securities and 
derivative transactions

Assets
(1) Cash and deposits and (2) Notes and accounts receivable – trade
Since these items are settled in a short period of time, their carrying 
value approximates fair value.

(3) Investment securities

 The fair value of stocks is based on quoted market prices.

Liabilities
(1) Notes and accounts payable – trade, (2) Short-term loans payable and 
(3) Commercial paper
Since these items are settled in a short period of time, their carrying 
value approximates fair value.

(4) Bonds payable

The fair value of bonds is based on the present value of the total of 
principal and interest discounted by an interest rate determined taking 
into account the current credit risk.  Bonds payable include the bonds 
that are due within one year.
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(5) Long-term loans payable

The fair value of long-term loans payable is based on the present value 
of the total of principal and interest discounted by the interest rate to be 
applied if similar new loans were entered into.  Long-term loans payable 
include long-term loans payable that is due within one year. 

Derivatives Transactions
Please refer to Note 27, “Derivatives Transactions”

Note 2  Financial instruments for which it is extremely difficult to 
determine the fair value

Carrying amount

Unlisted stocks ¥ 31,803

Carrying amount

Unlisted stocks $ 382,481

  Because no quoted market price is available and it is extremely 
difficult to determine the fair value, the above financial instruments are 
not included in the above table.

Note 3  Redemption schedule for receivables and marketable securities 
with maturities at 31st March, 2011

Due in one 
year or less

Due after one year 
through five years

Due after five years 
through ten years

Due after
ten years

Cash and deposit ¥ 67,031 ¥ – ¥ – ¥ –
Notes receivable and accounts  
  receivable – trade 150,064 – – –

Investment securities with maturities – 20 – –
Total ¥ 217,095 ¥ 20 ¥ – ¥ –

Due in one 
year or less

Due after one year 
through five years

Due after five years 
through ten years

Due after
ten years

Cash and deposit $ 806,148 $ – $ – $ –
Notes receivable and accounts   
  receivable – trade 1,804,744 – – –

Investment securities with maturities – 241 – –
Total $ 2,610,892 $ 241 $ – $ –

Note 4 The redemption schedule for long-term debt and so on.
Due in one year 

or less
Due after one 
year through

two years

Due after two 
years through 

three years

Due after three 
years through 

four years

Due after four 
years through 

five years
Due after 
five years

Corporate bond ¥ 20,326 ¥ 30,276 ¥ 11,228 ¥ 140 ¥ 10,060 ¥ 250
Long-term loan 
  payable 63,832 47,421 81,235 44,038 18,817 8,043

Total ¥ 84,158 ¥ 77,697 ¥ 92,463 ¥ 44,178 ¥ 28,877 ¥ 8,293

Due in one year or 
less

Due after one 
year through

two years

Due after two 
years through 

three years

Due after three 
years through 

four years

Due after four 
years through 

five years
Due after 
five years

Corporate bond $ 244,450 $ 364,113 $ 135,033 $ 1,684 $ 120,986 $ 3,006
Long-term loan 
  payable 767,671 570,310 976,965 529,624 226,306 96,735

Total $ 1,012,121 $ 934,423 $ 1,111,998 $ 531,308 $ 347,292 $ 99,741

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents

“Cash and deposits” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
as of 31st March, 2010 and 2011 are reconciled to cash and cash 
equivalents in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows 
as follows:

2010 2011

Cash and deposits ¥ 119,437 ¥ 67,291 $ 809,267
Time deposits with a maturity of over three months (5,957) (6,026) (72,461)
Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 113,480 ¥ 61,265 $ 736,806

  The components of assets and liabilities of Azuma Shipping Co., Ltd. 
which was excluded from the scope of consolidation as a result of the 
sale of shares, and the sales amount and related expenditures are as 
follows.
Current assets ¥ 8,603 $ 103,458
Fixed assets 22,588 271,649
Current liabilities (10,227) (122,989)
Noncurrent liabilities (9,410) (113,167)

Sales amount of shares ¥ 741 $ 8,909
Cash and cash equivalents (1,931) (23,220)
Expenditures arising from sale (1,190) (14,311)

  Other than the foregoing, expenditures of ¥463 ($5,569) were 
incurred associated with the sale of shares for companies which were 
excluded from the scope of consolidation.

8. Investment Securities

Investments securities shown in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets as of 31st March, 2010 and 2011 comprises:

2010 2011

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated 
  subsidiaries and affiliates ¥ 62,332 ¥ 64,002 $ 769,715

Others 40,624 22,183 266,790
¥ 102,956 ¥ 86,185 $ 1,036,505

  At 31st March, 2010 and 2011, information with respect to 
“available-for-sale securities” for which market prices were available is 
summarized as follows:

As of 31st March, 2011

Acquisition cost Fair value Unrealized gain 
(loss) Acquisition cost Fair value Unrealized gain 

(loss)

Securities with 
  fair value 
  exceeding their 
  acquisition cost:

Equity 
  securities ¥ 5,253 ¥ 10,881 ¥ 5,628 $ 63,173 $ 130,865 $ 67,692

Bonds 20 21 1 241 251 10
Other – – – – – –

5,273 10,902 5,629 63,414 131,116 67,702

Securities with 
  fair value not 
  exceeding their 
  acquisition cost:

Equity 
  securities 4,173 3,119 (1,054) 50,184 37,503 (12,681)

Bonds – – – – – –
Other 1 1 (0) 17 16 (1)

4,174 3,120 (1,054) 50,201 37,519 (12,682)
¥ 9,447 ¥ 14,022 ¥ 4,575 $ 113,615 $ 168,635 $ 55,020

As of 31st March, 2011

Acquisition cost Fair value Unrealized gain 
(loss)

Securities with fair value exceeding their 
  acquisition cost:

Equity securities ¥ 11,132 ¥ 23,734 ¥ 12,602
Bonds:

Government bonds 20 21 1
Other – – –

11,152 23,755 12,603
Securities with fair value not exceeding their   
  acquisition cost:

Equity securities 6,031 5,173 (857)
Bonds:

Government bonds – – –
Other 1 1 0

6,032 5,174 (857)
¥ 17,184 ¥ 28,929 ¥ 11,746
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  Gains and losses incurred from the sale of other securities included 
in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the years 
ended 31st March, 2010 and 2011 were as follows:

2010 2011

Sales amounts ¥ 6,163 ¥ 10,373 $ 124,748
Gains 30 3,691 44,395
Losses 18 36 430

9. Short-Term Loans Payable and Long-Term Loans Payable

Weighted average interest rates on short-term loans payable posits 
received from retailers to secure trade receivables outstanding at 31st 
March, 2011 were 1.01 and 1.66% respectively.
  Interest bearing liabilities as of 31st March, 2010 and 2011 are as 
follows:

2010 2011
Weighted average 
interest rates (%)

Weighted average 
interest rates (%)

Long-term loans 
  payable

Long-term loans 
payable ¥ 304,093 1.09 ¥ 263,387 1.41 – 1.66 $ 3,167,611

Bonds 83,661 0.78 – 2.00 72,280 0.56 – 2.00 869,272
Convertible bonds * 22,022 0.00 – –
Lease 6,292 11,539 138,777

416,068 347,206 4,175,660
Less: due within one 
  year

Long-term loans 
payable 68,223 1.42 63,832 1.66 767,671

Bonds 42,593 0.78 – 2.00 20,326 0.56 – 2.00 244,450
Lease 1,333 – 2,370 – 28,500

112,149 86,528 1,040,621
¥ 303,919 ¥ 260,678 $ 3,135,039

*:  The Company issued ¥22,000 Zero coupon convertible bonds due 2014 
with a conversion price of ¥506 per share on 11th May, 2004.

  Aggregate annual maturities of long-term bank loans and bonds 
outstanding as of 31st March, 2011 for the next five years are as follows:
Year ending
31st March, Bonds Long-term bank loans Lease

2012 ¥ 20,326 $ 244,450 ¥ 63,832 $ 767,671 ¥ 2,370 $ 28,500
2013 30,276 364,113 47,421 570,310 2,174 26,149
2014 11,228 135,033 81,235 976,965 1,772 21,311
2015 140 1,684 44,038 529,624 1,386 16,673
2016 10,060 120,986 18,817 226,306 1,140 13,707

Year ending
31st March, Total

2012 ¥ 86,528 $ 1,040,621
2013 79,871 960,572
2014 94,235 1,133,309
2015 45,564 547,981
2016 30,017 360,999

10. Assets Pledged as Collateral and Secured Liabilities

Assets pledged as collateral and secured liabilities as of 31st March, 
2010 and 2011 were as follows:

(1) Assets pledged as collateral
2010 2011

Cash and deposits ¥ 2,200 ¥ 2,031 $ 24,422
Notes and accounts receivable−trade 380 201 2,413
Investments securities 22,467 11,559 139,019
Other assets 6,421 3,145 37,817
Buildings and structures 35,856 29,022 349,037
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 17,786 13,322 160,217
Land 54,667 49,604 596,564
Other property, plant and equipment 174 146 1,757
Total ¥ 139,951 ¥ 109,030 $ 1,311,246

(2) Secured liabilities
2010 2011

Notes and accounts payable−trade ¥ 4,301 ¥ 2,554 $ 30,711
Short−term bank loans 29,734 25,915 311,663
Long−term bank loans 34,724 30,689 369,075
Bonds 160 200 2,405
Other liabilities 7,982 6,037 72,614
Total ¥ 76,901 ¥ 65,395 $ 786,468

11. Provision for Retirement Benefits

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have unfunded defined 
benefit plans, and contributory and/or noncontributory defined benefit 
plans.

  The Company contributes certain assets to a retirement benefit trust.
  Provision for retirement benefits as of 31st March, 2010 and 2011 
were analyzed as follows:

2010 2011

Projected benefit obligations ¥ (90,556) ¥ (72,439) $ (871,184)
Plan assets at fair value 39,634 36,654 440,814
Unfunded retirement benefit obligations (50,922) (35,785) (430,370)
Unrecognized actuarial differences 21,940 19,044 229,034
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance 
  sheets  (28,982)  (16,741)  (201,336)

Prepaid pension costs 6,431 7,204 86,641
Provision for retirement benefits ¥ (35,413) ¥ (23,945) $ (287,977)

  Expenses related to retirement benefits to employees incurred for 
the years ended 31st March, 2010 and 2011 were as follows:

2010 2011

Service cost ¥ 3,440 ¥ 2,781 $ 33,447
Interest cost 2,469 2,196 26,413
Expected return on plan assets (1,321) (1,345) (16,179)
Amortization of actuarial loss 5,158 4,605 55,387
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost  (356)  (359)  (4,320)
Expenses for the year ¥ 9,390 ¥ 7,878 $ 94,748

Assumptions used in the calculation of the above information were as 
follows:
Discount rate Mainly 2.5%
Expected rate of return on plan assets Mainly 2.5%
Method of attributing the projected benefits to 
periods of services Straight-line basis

Amortization of actuarial differences Mainly 10 years from the year   
  following that recognition

Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost Mainly 10 years from the year of that 
  recognition

12. Contingent Liabilities

(1)   As of 31st March, 2011, the Companies were contingently liable 
for notes discounted by banks in the aggregate amount of ¥12,045 
($144,864) (¥12,135 as of 31st March, 2010), notes endorsed for 
payments in the aggregate amount of ¥831 ($9,998) (¥401 as of 31st 
March, 2010).

(2)   The Companies were also contingently liable as guarantors of bank 
loans and trade payables for certain companies (including guarantee 
forward commitments), the balances of which as of 31st March, 
2010 and 2011 were as follows:
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2010 2011

Guarantees for bank loans payable ¥ 9,981 ¥ 6,983 $ 83,976
Guarantees for account payables to Ready-mixed 
  Cooperative Association 1,192 1,378 16,572

Guarantees (forward commitments) for bank loans 
  payable 368 3 41

13. Shareholders’ Equity

The Corporation Law of Japan provides that an amount equivalent to 
10% of interim cash distributions (interim cash dividends) and at least 
10% of cash distributions including cash dividends made as a result of 
the appropriation of retained earnings is required to be transferred to 
the legal reserve until the balance of the total of the additional paid-in 
capital and the legal reserve reaches 25% of the stated share capital.  
The balance of legal reserve is included in retained earnings, the use of 
which is strictly limited under the Law.
  The amount in excess of 25% of the stated share capital, as the 
case may be, allowed to be distributed as dividends when certain 
conditions specifically stipulated in the Law are satisfied.

14. Revaluation of Land

Chichibu Railway Co., Ltd., a domestic consolidated subsidiary, 
revalued land on 31st March, 2000 in accordance with the Law for Land 
Revaluation.
  With respect to the amount of unrealized profit less deferred taxes 
thereon, the amount attributable to minority interests is credited to 
“Minority interests and the rest is recorded as “Revaluation reserve for 
land accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
  With respect to the land revalued as mentioned above, the 
difference between the aggregate book value of such land (after 
revaluation) and the aggregate fair value thereof was ¥6,161 ($74,106) at 
31st March, 2011 (¥5,814 at 31st March, 2010).
  During the year ended 31st March, 2002, A&A Material Corporation 
and DC Co., Ltd., domestic affiliates accounted for by the equity method, 
revalued their land in accordance with the Law for Land Revaluation.  
With respect to the amount of unrealized profit less deferred taxes 
thereon, the amount attributable to the Company is included in 
“Revaluation reserve for land” in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets.

15.  Loss on Write-down of Inventories by Decreased 
Profitability

2010 2011

Cost of sales ¥ 853 ¥ 1,412 $ 16,979
Non-operating expenses 1,143 1,827 21,971

16. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the years ended 31st 
March, 2010 and 2011 are summarized as follows:

2010 2011

Labor and payroll cost ¥ 37,588 ¥ 34,197 $ 411,265
Freight and transportation/distribution expenses 45,262 46,806 562,915
Provision for accrued bonuses to employees 1,590 1,411 16,972
Expenses related to accrued retirement benefits 6,457 5,499 66,139
Amortization of goodwill 3,234 3,181 38,257
Others 31,359 28,866 347,147
Total ¥ 125,490 ¥ 119,960 $ 1,442,695

17. Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs charged to general and administrative 
expenses and manufacturing costs for the years ended 31st March, 2010 
and 2011 were ¥4,620 and ¥4,023 ($48,382), respectively.
 
18. Income Taxes 
 
Income taxes in Japan applicable to the Company and its domestic 
consolidated subsidiaries consist of corporate tax, inhabitants’ taxes 
and enterprise tax.  Enterprise tax is deductible when paid as expenses 
for the purpose of the calculation of other income taxes.  The effective 
statutory tax rate for the years ended 31st March, 2010 and 2011 were 
approximately 39.54%.

  The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as 
of 31st March, 2010 and 2011 were as follows:

2010 2011

Deferred tax assets:
Nondeductible portion of:

Provision for doubtful accounts ¥ 1,588 ¥ 1,261 $ 15,165
Provision for bonus to employees 2,124 1,710 20,567
Provision for retirement benefits 16,837 14,874 178,877

Unrealized loss of property, plant and equipment 14,693 12,738 153,195
Impairment loss 12,887 12,058 145,017
Loss carried forward 27,814 24,495 294,585
Others 25,712 22,299 268,182

Subtotal 101,655 89,435 1,075,588
Valuation allowance (46,955) (45,073) (542,076)

Total deferred tax assets 54,700 44,362 533,512
Deferred tax liabilities:

Special tax reserve on property, plant and equipment (16,093) (13,458) (161,850)
Other reserves under Special Taxation Measures Law (482) (362) (4,352)
Depreciation (6,586) (5,831) (70,124)
Goodwill (1,871) (1,626) (19,552)
Unrealized holding gain on available-for-sale securities (4,415) (1,615) (19,428)
Land revaluation (6,042) (6,042) (72,669)
Others (1,551) (506) (6,074)

Total deferred tax liabilities (37,040) (29,440) (354,049)
Net deferred tax assets ¥ 17,660 ¥ 14,922 $ 179,463

  Components of differences between the statutory effective tax rate 
and the income tax and other burden rate after the application of tax 
effect accounting:
Statutory effective tax rate 39.54%
(Adjustments)
Entertainment and other expenses that are permanently nondeductible 2.49
Dividend income from overseas subsidiaries 3.79
Per capita inhabitant tax 2.26
Effect of unrealized gain 7.84
Amortization of goodwill 8.00
Effect of exclusion from consolidation 2.18
Others 0.68
Income tax and other burden rate after the application of tax effect accounting 66.78

19.  Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Fair Value of 
Investment and Rental Property

Effective for the year ended 31st March, 2010 “Accounting Standard 
for Disclosures about Fair Value of Investment and Rental Property” 
(ASBJ Statement No. 20) and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for 
Disclosures about Fair Value of Investment and Rental Property” (ASBJ 
Guidance No. 23) have been applied. 
  Net rental income from the rental property is ¥3,347 ($40,257) for 
the year ended 31st March, 2011 (rental revenues are included in net 
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sales or non-operating income, and rental expenses are included in cost 
of sales or non-operating expenses).  Loss on sales of the rental property 
is ¥11,959 ($143,822) for the year ended 31st March, 2011.
  Carrying value and fair value of the rental property are as follows:

Carrying value Fair value

As of 31st March, 
2010 Net Change As of 31st March, 

2011
As of 31st March, 

2011
¥ 65,356 ¥ (6,863) ¥ 58,493 ¥ 93,973

$ 702,450 $ (82,543) $ 703,459 $ 1,130,165

20. Impairment Loss

The Company evaluated the impairment of fixed assets by grouping 
assets based on a business unit that was largely independent of other 
asset groups, except for assets used for rent, important idle properties 
and assets scheduled for disposal, which are individually considered.  
Each consolidated subsidiary principally formed an asset group.  Certain 
significant subsidiaries formed asset groups by segment for management 
accounting purposes, except for important idle properties and assets 
scheduled for disposal.
  As a result, the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries 
recognized impairment losses of ¥18,054 ($194,044) and ¥1,876 
($22,558) in non-operating expenses for the years ended 31st March, 
2010 and 2011 as follows:
  Among the assets affected by the Great East Japan Earthquake, the 
book value of assets whose disposal was planned has been reduced to 
the recoverable amount and this impairment loss of ¥265 ($3,192) has 
been recorded as extraordinary loss due to natural disaster.  Of this total, 
buildings and structures were ¥179 ($2,148), machinery, equipment and 
vehicles were ¥73 ($882), and others were ¥13 ($162).

2010 2011

Cement manufacture assets
Buildings and structures ¥ 3,926 ¥ – $ –
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 6,577 – –
Other 2,116 – –

12,619 – –
Business assets of ready-mixed concrete

Buildings and structures 564 19 225
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 220 139 1,669
Land 408 0 0
Other 295 3 45

1,487 161 1,939
Real estate for rent

Buildings and structures – 9 112
Land – 145 1,738

– 154 1,850
Other business assets

Buildings and structures 523 105 1,257
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 665 5 57
Land 101 385 4,630
Other 336 21 259

1,625 516 6,203
Idle properties

Buildings and structures 306 362 4,352
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 79 396 4,762
Land 733 232 2,785
Other 27 43 523

1,145 1,033 12,422
Prepared disposal assets

Buildings and structures 546 190 2,290
Machinery, equipment and vehicles – 73 882
Land 631 – –
Other 1 14 164

1,178 277 3,336
¥ 18,054 ¥ 2,141 $ 25,750

  The impairment losses were measured as the excess of the book 
value over the higher of (1) the fair market value of the assets, net of 
disposal costs or (2) the present value of future cash flows arising from 
ongoing utilization of the assets and disposal after the assets’ use.
  The fair market value of the assets, net of disposal costs, was 
estimated as the residual value for tax purposes less disposal costs 
for tangible depreciable assets including buildings and structures, an 
appraised value for lands, and structures; the appraised value for lands; 
the aggregated amount of appraised values of lands and estimated 
values of minable raw materials for mining lands for raw materials.
  The present value of future cash flows was calculated using 
discount rates of 5%.

21. Loss on Business Withdrawal

The loss incurred in conjunction with a U.S. subsidiary’s withdrawal from 
its fodder additive business was ¥1,359 ($16,339) for the year ended 
31st March, 2011 (¥906 for the year ended 31st March, 2010).

22. Business Structure Reform Costs

Business structure reform costs of ¥32,227 ($346,373) were incurred for 
the year ended 31st March, 2010, which were related to the execution 
of the measures including reforms of the system of domestic production, 
the system of the number of persons of the organization, and the 
system of domestic cement business in order to aim to achieve stable 
earnings even if the domestic cement demand decreases.  Such costs 
primarily consisted of impairment loss of ¥13,271 ($142,637), additional 
retirement benefits of ¥8,186 ($87,983) and retirement benefits related 
expenses of ¥5,702 ($61,285).

23. Loss on Disaster

As a result of the Great East Japan Earthquake, loss due to destruction 
of inventory of ¥2,280 ($27,422), impairment loss of fixed assets of ¥265 
($3,192), and restoration costs, etc. of ¥6,661 ($80,103) were recognized.

24. Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

2010

Comprehensive income for the year ended 31st March, 2010:
Comprehensive income attributable to shareholders of the parent ¥ (30,941) $ (332,556)
Comprehensive income attributable to minority interests 1,029 11,055

(29,912) (321,501)
Other comprehensive income for the year ended 31st March, 2010:

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities 980 10,538
Deferred gains or losses on hedges 6 64
Revaluation reserve for land 1 16
Foreign currency translation adjustments 2,001 21,504
Adjustments for employee retirement benefit of overseas 
  Subsidiary 100 1,068

Share of other comprehensive income of affiliates accounted 
  for using equity method 3,390 36,436

¥ 6,478 $ 69,626
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25. Asset Retirement Obligations

Asset retirement obligations recorded in the consolidated balance 
sheets are primarily obligation to take measures to prevent pollution and 
ensure safety, etc. at the time of mine closing in accordance with the 
Mine Safety Act, obligation to restore the site to its original condition 
in accordance with the real estate lease agreement, obligation to take 
measures to prevent the dispersion of asbestos in accordance with the 
Industrial Safety and Health Act, the Ordinance on Prevention of Health 
Impairment due to Asbestos, and the Air Pollution Control Act, etc.
  The value of asset retirement obligations is estimated by using 
useful periods of 2 years to 348 years and discount rates from 1.3% to 
7.7% according to the type of asset retirement obligation.
  The following table indicates the changes in asset retirement 
obligations for the year ended 31st March, 2011:

2011

Balance at 1st April, 2010 * ¥ 6,271 $ 75,415
Liabilities incurred due to the acquisition of property, plant and
 equipment 669 8,042

Accretion expense 154 1,857
Liabilities settled (138) (1,663)
Others (102) (1,223)
Balance at 31st March, 2011 ¥ 6,854 $ 82,428

*  This is the beginning balance resulting from the adoption of the 
“Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations” (ASBJ 
Statement No. 18 issued on 31st March, 2008) and the “Guidance 
on Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations” (ASBJ 
Guidance No. 21 issued on 31st March, 2008).

26. Lease

The Companies have various lease agreements whereby the Companies 
act both as lessees and lessors.

(1) As lessees

(a)   Finance lease contracts other than those that are deemed to 
transfer the ownership of the leased assets to lessees, which were 
commenced before 1st April, 2008 are accounted for by the method 
that is applicable to ordinary operating leases.  Assumed data as to 
acquisition costs, accumulated depreciation and net balance of the 
leased assets would be follows:

31st March, 2011

Acquisition costs Accumulated 
depreciation

Accumulated 
impairment loss Net balance

Buildings and structures ¥ 182 ¥ 146 ¥ – ¥ 36
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 24,280 19,864 193 4,223
Other tangible and intangible assets 1,022 725 23 274
Total ¥ 25,484 ¥ 20,735 ¥ 216 ¥ 4,533
Buildings and structures $ 2,187 $ 1,753 $ – $ 434
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 292,008 238,897 2,320 50,791
Other tangible assets 12,289 8,722 281 3,286
Total $ 306,484 $ 249,372 $ 2,601 $ 54,511

31st March, 2010

Acquisition costs Accumulated 
depreciation

Accumulated 
impairment loss Net balance

Buildings and structures ¥ 193 ¥ 126 ¥ 10 ¥ 57
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 44,512 33,855 2,552 8,106
Other tangible and intangible assets 1,638 1,041 54 542
Total ¥ 46,343 ¥ 35,022 ¥ 2,616 ¥ 8,705

  Future minimum lease payments as of 31st March, 2010 and 2011 
and lease rental expenses for the years ended 31st March, 2010 and 
2011 are as follows.

31st March, 2010 31st March, 2011

The scheduled maturities of future lease rental 
  payments on such lease:

Due within one year ¥ 3,908 ¥ 2,002 $ 24,078
Due over one year 5,143 2,580 31,032

¥ 9,051 ¥ 4,582 $ 55,110
Lease rental expenses for the year ¥ 5,205 ¥ 3,024 $ 36,373

(b)  Future lease payments under operating leases are as follows:
31st March, 2010 31st March, 2011

Due within one year ¥ 544 ¥ 437 $ 5,255
Due over one year 962 974 11,714

¥ 1,506 ¥ 1,411 $ 16,969

(2) As lessors

Certain assets of the Companies including buildings and structures with 
aggregated acquisition costs of ¥21 ($253) as of 31st March, 2011 (¥65 
as of 31st March, 2010) were leased out, from which lease rental income 
of ¥12 ($147) was recorded for the year ended 31st March, 2011 (¥14 for 
the year ended 31st March, 2010).

27. Derivative Transactions

Derivative financial instruments are utilized for the purpose of hedging 
exposure to adverse fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, 
interest rates and raw material prices.  No such transactions for 
speculation or trading purposes were entered into.

  The Companies are exposed to market risks such as volatility of 
foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and raw material prices, 
and use these derivative financial instruments to hedge the related risk 
effectively.  Accordingly, these risks are not material.
  Credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the counterparties to 
the derivative financial instruments may incur, but any such loss from 
such event would not be material because the Company enters into 
transactions only with financial institutions with high credit ratings.  
The notional amounts of the derivative financial instruments do not 
necessarily represent the amounts exchanged by the parties and, 
therefore, are not a direct measure of the Company’s risk exposure in 
connection with derivative financial instruments.
  Summarized below are the notional amounts and the estimated fair 
values of the derivatives outstanding at 31st March, 2010 and 2011.

(1) Derivatives transaction (Not applied for hedge adjustment)

Currency related transactions
2011

Notional 
amount

Fair 
value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

Notional 
amount

Fair 
value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

(Forward exchange 
  Contracts)

Sweden Clone ¥ 285 ¥ (49) ¥ (49) $ 3,426 $ (592) $ (592)
Total ¥ 285 ¥ (49) ¥ (49) $ 3,426 $ (592) $ (592)

2010
Notional 
amount

Fair 
value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

(Forward exchange 
  Contracts)

Sweden Clone ¥ 1,322 ¥ (201) ¥ (201)
Total ¥ 1,322 ¥ (201) ¥ (201)

Interest related transactions
2011

Notional 
amount

Fair 
value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

Notional 
amount

Fair 
value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

(Interest rate swaps)
Receive/floating 
  and pay/fixed ¥ 20,316 ¥ (1,131) ¥ (1,131) $ 244,333 $ (13,601) $ (13,601)

Total ¥ 20,316 ¥ (1,131) ¥ (1,131) $ 244,333 $ (13,601) $ (13,601)

2010
Notional 
amount

Fair 
value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

(Interest rate swaps)
Receive/fixed and 
  pay/floating ¥ 500 ¥ (0) ¥ (0)

Receive/floating 
  and pay/fixed 24,211 (652) (652)

Total ¥ 24,711 ¥ (652) ¥ (652)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FINANCIAL SECTION

Taiheiyo Cement Corporation and Subsidiaries for the years ended 31st March, 2010 and 2011

ANNUAL REPORT 201128



(2)  Derivatives transaction to which hedging accounting is applied

Interest rate relation
2011

Method of 
hedging 

accounting
Hedging 

instruments Hedged items Notional amount Fair value Notional amount Fair value

Method of  
 treatment in 
 principle

(Interest rate 
 swaps)  
Receive/
 floating and 
 pay/fixed

Long-term and 
 short-term  
 loans payable

¥ 160 ¥ (0) $ 1,924 $ (10)

Exceptional 
 treatment of 
 interest rate 
 swap

(Interest rate 
 swaps)  
Receive/fixed 
 and pay/
 floating

Long-term and 
 short-term 
 loans payable

¥ 2,400 ¥ 33 $ 28,863 $ 397

Receive/
 floating and 
 pay/fixed

¥ 106,208 ¥ (1,702) $ 1,277,303 $ (20,471)

Total ¥ 108,768 ¥ (1,669) $ 1,308,090 $ (20,084)

2010
Method of 

hedging 
accounting

Hedging 
instruments Hedged items Notional amount Fair value

Method of 
 treatment in 
 principle

(Interest rate 
 swaps) 
Receive/
 floating and 
 pay/fixed

Long-term and 
 short-term 
 loans payable

¥ 480 ¥ (4)

Exceptional 
 treatment of 
 interest rate 
 swap

(Interest rate 
 swaps)  
Receive/fixed 
 and pay/
 floating

Long-term and 
 short-term 
 loans payable

¥ 2,400 ¥ 46

Receive/
 floating and 
 pay/fixed

¥ 125,009 ¥ (2,198)

Exceptional 
 treatment of 
 interest rate 
 cap

(Interest cap 
 trading)

Short-term 
 loans payable ¥ 30 ¥ 0

Total ¥ 127,919 ¥ (2,156)

Commodity relation
2011

Method of 
hedging 

accounting
Hedging 

instruments Hedged items Notional amount Fair value Notional amount Fair value

Method of 
 treatment in 
 principle

(Raw 
 materials 
 swaps) 
Receive/
 floating and 
 pay/fixed

Raw materials ¥ 496 ¥ 37 $ 5,966 $ 449

Total ¥ 496 ¥ 37 $ 5,966 $ 449

28. Segment Information

[Industry segments]
2010

Cement business Mineral resources 
business

Environmental 
business

Construction materials 
business

Ceramics & 
electronics business Other Total Eliminations or 

corporate assets Consolidated total

Net sales:
(1) Net sales to outside customers ¥ 439,834 ¥ 69,804 ¥ 54,567 ¥ 82,888 ¥ 20,391 ¥ 61,098 ¥ 728,582 ¥ – ¥ 728,582
(2) Inter-segment net sales 11,663 16,675 6,350 5,857 39 40,024 80,608 (80,608) –

Total 451,497 86,479 60,917 88,745 20,430 101,122 809,190 (80,608) 728,582
Operating costs and expenses 452,340 85,652 56,760 87,679 24,058 98,024 804,513 (79,504) 725,009
Operating income (loss) ¥ (843) ¥ 827 ¥ 4,157 ¥ 1,066 ¥ (3,628) ¥ 3,098 ¥ 4,677 ¥ (1,104) ¥ 3,573
Assets ¥ 591,380 ¥ 135,310 ¥ 16,228 ¥ 95,944 ¥ 31,624 ¥ 266,840 ¥ 1,137,326 ¥ 17,931 ¥ 1,155,257
Depreciation ¥ 30,757 ¥ 5,415 ¥ 402 ¥ 2,624 ¥ 1,553 ¥ 7,689 ¥ 48,440 ¥ 277 ¥ 48,717
Impairment loss ¥ 12,571 ¥ 648 ¥ 620 ¥ 472 ¥ – ¥ 3,743 ¥ 18,054 – ¥ 18,054
Capital expenditures ¥ 27,896 ¥ 5,643 ¥ 120 ¥ 1,947 ¥ 329 ¥ 2,434 ¥ 38,369 ¥ 717 ¥ 39,086

[Geographic segments]
2010

Domestic (in Japan) North America Asia Other Total Eliminations or 
corporate assets Consolidated total

Net sales:
(1) Net sales to outside customers ¥ 615,865 ¥ 54,375 ¥ 51,922 ¥ 6,420 ¥ 728,582 ¥ – ¥ 728,582
(2) Inter-segment net sales 5,850 0 3,030 2 8,882 (8,882) –

Total 621,715 54,375 54,952 6,422 737,464 (8,882) 728,582
Operating costs and expenses 611,312 65,965 49,689 6,202 733,168 (8,159) 725,009
Operating income (loss) ¥ 10,403 ¥ (11,590) ¥ 5,263 ¥ 220 ¥ 4,296 ¥ (723) ¥ 3,573
Assets ¥ 951,417 ¥ 128,332 ¥ 125,671 ¥ 5,997 ¥ 1,211,417 ¥ (56,160) ¥ 1,155,257
Net sales:
(1) Net sales to outside customers $ 6,619,356 $ 584,426 $ 558,064 $ 68,996 $ 7,830,842 $ – $ 7,830,842
(2) Inter-segment net sales 62,880 0 32,564 19 95,463 (95,463) –

Total 6,682,236 584,426 590,628 69,015 7,926,305 (95,463) 7,830,842
Operating costs and expenses 6,570,421 708,996 534,064 66,649 7,880,130 (87,689) 7,792,441
Operating income(loss) $ 111,815 $ (124,570) $ 56,564 $ 2,366 $ 46,175 $ (7,774) $ 38,401
Assets $ 10,225,897 $ 1,379,324 $ 1,350,722 $ 64,444 $ 13,020,387 $ (603,610) $ 12,416,777

[Export sales]
Export sales by the Company and its domestic subsidiaries, plus the 
sales of overseas-consolidated subsidiaries, for the year ended 31st 
March, 2010 are presented below:

2010

Export sales and sales by overseas subsidiaries:
North America ¥ 54,486
Asia 63,092
Others 16,584

Total (a) ¥ 134,162
Net sales of the Companies (b) ¥ 728,582
 (a)/(b) 18.4%

[Segment Information]
The reportable segments of the Company are components for which 
discrete financial information is available and whose operating results 
are regularly reviewed by the Executive Committee to make decisions 
about resource allocation and to assess performance.

  The Company has five reportable segments consisting of “Cement,” 
“Mineral Resources,” “Environmental Business,” “Construction 
Materials,” and “Ceramics and Electronics” for its products and services.  
The principal products, etc. of each reportable segment are as follows.
Reportable Segment Principal Products, etc.
Cement Various cement, ready-mixed concrete
Mineral Resources Aggregates, limestone products
Environmental Business Waste recycling, desulfurization materials

Construction Materials Concrete products, autoclaved lightweight aerated concrete 
  (ALC), chemicals

Ceramics and Electronics Ceramic products, electronic products

  The accounting policies of the segments are substantially the same 
as those described in the significant accounting policies in Note 4. 
Segment performance is evaluated based on operating income or loss.  
Inter-segment transactions are recorded at the same prices used in 
transactions with third parties. 
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Information of net sales, profit or loss, assets, liabilities, and other items by reportable segment are as follows:
2011

Cement Mineral resources Environmental 
business Construction materials Ceramics & 

electronics Subtotal Other Total Adjustment Consolidated total

Net sales:
(1) Net sales to outside customers ¥ 428,992 ¥ 66,283 ¥ 53,162 ¥ 79,771 ¥ 42,848 ¥ 671,056 ¥ 55,420 ¥ 726,476 ¥ – ¥ 726,476
(2) Inter-segment net sales 10,349 16,446 4,875 4,765 30 36,465 30,028 66,493 (66,493) –

Total 439,341 82,729 58,037 84,536 42,878 707,521 85,448 792,969 (66,493) 726,476
Segment profit (loss) ¥ 7,951 ¥ 1,690 ¥ 5,209 ¥ (239) ¥ (1,088) ¥ 13,523 ¥ 3,596 ¥ 17,119 ¥ (686) ¥ 16,433
Segment assets ¥ 551,474 ¥ 133,868 ¥ 14,411 ¥ 84,970 ¥ 34,064 ¥ 818,787 ¥ 232,444 ¥ 1,051,231 ¥ (53,771) ¥ 997,460
Depreciation ¥ 27,276 ¥ 5,528 ¥ 303 ¥ 2,637 ¥ 1,397 ¥ 37,141 ¥ 5,495 ¥ 42,636 ¥ 461 ¥ 43,097
Amortization of goodwill ¥ 3,007 ¥ – ¥ 2 ¥ 55 ¥ – ¥ 3,064 ¥ 117 ¥ 3,181 ¥ – ¥ 3,181
Equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates ¥ 2,179 ¥ (195) ¥ 17 ¥ (240) ¥ – ¥ 1,761 ¥ 159 ¥ 1,920 ¥ 9 ¥ 1,929
Impairment loss ¥ 1,009 ¥ 121 ¥ – ¥ 786 ¥ 0 ¥ 1,916 ¥ 225 ¥ 2,141 ¥ – ¥ 2,141
Investment in unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates accounted for by 
  the equity method ¥ 42,380 ¥ 423 ¥ 228 ¥ 10,905 ¥ – ¥ 53,936 ¥ 6,431 ¥ 60,367 ¥ 159 ¥ 60,526

Increase for property, plant, equipment, and intangible assets ¥ 22,007 ¥ 3,278 ¥ 51 ¥ 2,537 ¥ 745 ¥ 28,618 ¥ 3,448 ¥ 32,066 ¥ 363 ¥ 32,429

2011

Cement Mineral resources Environmental 
business Construction materials Ceramics & 

electronics Subtotal Other Total Adjustment Consolidated total

Net sales:
(1) Net sales to outside customers $ 5,159,249 $ 797,147 $ 639,351 $ 959,367 $ 515,307 $ 8,070,421 $ 666,506 $ 8,736,927 $ – $ 8,376,927
(2) Inter-segment net sales 124,466 197,785 58,633 57,304 364 438,552 361,131 799,683 (799,683) –

Total 5,283,715 994,932 697,984 1,016,671 515,671 8,508,973 1,027,637 9,536,610 (799,683) 8,736,927
Segment profit (loss) $ 95,627 $ 20,319 $ 62,652 $ (2,877) $ (13,086) $ 162,635 $ 43,251 $ 205,886 $ (8,251) $ 197,635
Segment assets $ 6,632,284 $ 1,609,954 $ 173,309 $ 1,021,892 $ 409,674 $ 9,847,113 $ 2,795,482 $ 12,642,595 $ (646,681) $ 11,995,914
Depreciation $ 328,035 $ 66,490 $ 3,639 $ 31,715 $ 16,799 $ 446,678 $ 66,083 $ 512,761 $ 5,544 $ 518,305
Amortization of goodwill $ 36,166 $ – $ 23 $ 658 $ – $ 36,847 $ 1,410 $ 38,257 $ – $ 38,257
Equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates $ 26,202 $ (2,344) $ 199 $ (2,886) $ – $ 21,171 $ 1,917 $ 23,088 $ 113 $ 23,201
Impairment loss $ 12,134 $ 1,458 $ – $ 9,456 $ 0 $ 23,048 $ 2,702 $ 25,750 $ – $ 25,750
Investment in unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates accounted for by 
  the equity method $ 509,678 $ 5,084 $ 2,743 $ 131,152 $ – $ 648,657 $ 77,342 $ 725,999 $ 1,913 $ 727,912

Increase for property, plant, equipment, and intangible assets $ 264,670 $ 39,428 $ 612 $ 30,508 $ 8,958 $ 344,176 $ 41,465 $ 385,641 $ 4,371 $ 390,012

2010

Cement Mineral resources Environmental 
business Construction materials Ceramics & 

electronics Subtotal Other Total Adjustment Consolidated total

Net sales:
(1) Net sales to outside customers ¥ 439,834 ¥ 69,804 ¥ 54,567 ¥ 82,888 ¥ 20,391 ¥ 667,484 ¥ 61,098 ¥ 728,582 ¥ – ¥ 728,582
(2) Inter-segment net sales 11,663 16,675 6,350 5,857 39 40,584 40,024 80,608 (80,608) –

Total 451,497 86,479 60,917 88,745 20,430 708,068 101,122 809,190 (80,608) 728,582
Segment profit (loss) ¥ (843) ¥ 827 ¥ 4,157 ¥ 1,066 ¥ (3,628) ¥ 1,579 ¥ 3,098 ¥ 4,677 ¥ (1,104) ¥ 3,573
Assets ¥ 591,380 ¥ 135,310 ¥ 16,228 ¥ 95,944 ¥ 31,624 ¥ 870,486 ¥ 266,840 ¥ 1,137,326 ¥ 17,931 ¥ 1,155,257
Depreciation ¥ 30,757 ¥ 5,415 ¥ 402 ¥ 2,624 ¥ 1,553 ¥ 40,751 ¥ 7,689 ¥ 48,440 ¥ 277 ¥ 48,717
Amortization of goodwill ¥ 3,194 ¥ (5) ¥ 0 ¥ 9 ¥ (77) ¥ 3,121 ¥ 112 ¥ 3,233 ¥ – ¥ 3,233
Equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates ¥ 4,276 ¥ (106) ¥ 126 ¥ (351) ¥ – ¥ 3,945 ¥ 119 ¥ 4,064 ¥ 5 ¥ 4,069
Impairment loss ¥ 12,571 ¥ 648 ¥ 620 ¥ 472 ¥ – ¥ 14,311 ¥ 3,743 ¥ 18,054 ¥ – ¥ 18,054
Investment in unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates accounted for by 
  the equity method ¥ 39,207 ¥ (668) ¥ 231 ¥ 17,148 ¥ – ¥ 55,918 ¥ 1,962 ¥ 57,880 ¥ 282 ¥ 58,162

Increase for property, plant, equipment, and intangible assets ¥ 27,896 ¥ 5,643 ¥ 120 ¥ 1,947 ¥ 329 ¥ 35,935 ¥ 2,434 ¥ 38,369 ¥ 717 ¥ 39,086
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The Board of Directors

Taiheiyo Cement Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Taiheiyo Cement Corporation and 

consolidated subsidiaries as of 31st March, 2010 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of 

operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows for the years then ended and consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income for the year ended 31st March, 2011, all expressed in yen.  These financial statements are 

the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 

statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan.  Those standards 

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 

the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting 

principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 

statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 

financial position of Taiheiyo Cement Corporation and consolidated subsidiaries at 31st March, 2010 and 2011, 

and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with 

accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.

Supplemental Information

As described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2011 the Company applied “Accounting 

Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations” and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement 

Obligations.”

The U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements with respect to the year ended 

31st March, 2011 are presented solely for convenience.  Our audit also included the translation of yen amounts 

into U.S. dollar amounts and, in our opinion, such translation has been made on the basis described in Note 5.

Tokyo, Japan

29th June, 2011

Report of Independent Auditors
FINANCIAL SECTION
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Taiheiyo Cement Group Network

OVERSEAS NETWORK

Taiheiyo Cement U.S.A., Inc.
 2025 East Financial Way, Glendora, CA 91741, U.S.A.
 Tel: +1-626-852-6200     Fax: +1-626-852-6217

Taiheiyo Cement (China) Investment Co., Ltd.
 1006 Room, Chang Fu Gong Office Building, 26,
 Jian Guo Men Wai Da Jie, 
 Chao Yang District, Beijing, China
 Tel: +86-10-8591-1815     Fax: +86-10-8591-1870

Taiheiyo Singapore Pte. Ltd.
 16 Raffles Quay, #41-03 Hong Leong Building, 
 Singapore 048581
 Tel: +65-6220-9495     Fax: +65-6225-5853

London Representative Office
 C/O John Saunders, 10 Buckingham Square, 
 The Quay, Burnham on Crouch, Essex CM0 8AS, U.K.
 Tel: +44-1621-784200     Fax: +44-1621-784200

Vietnam Representative Office
 Suite 801, 8th Fl., Sun Red River Building, 23 
 Phan Chu Trinh Street, 
 Hoan Kiem District, Hanoi, Vietnam
 Tel: +84-4-9330912     Fax: +84-4-9330921

Bangkok Representative Office
 5 Sitthivorakit Building, 17th. Fl., Soi Pipat, Silom Road, 
 Silom, Bangrak, Bangkok 10500, Thailand
 Tel: +66-2-266-8741     Fax: +66-2-266-8742

Taipei Representative Office
 5F, 139, Cheng-Chou Road, Taipei 103, Taiwan
 Tel: +886-2-2557-8098     Fax: +886-2-2553-9853

Hong Kong Representative Office
 20F, Tern Centre, Tower 1, 237 Queen’s Road Central, 
 Hong Kong
 Tel: +852-2545-9987     Fax: +852-2542-0474

MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES

CEMENT AND READY-MIXED CONCRETE
Chichibu Taiheiyo Cement Corporation
DC Co., Ltd.
Kokusai Kigyo Co., Ltd.
Myojyo Cement Co., Ltd.
Sanyo White Cement Co., Ltd.
Tsuruga Cement Co., Ltd.

MINERAL RESOURCES
Abekawa Kaihatsu Co., Ltd.
Buko Mining Co., Ltd.
Chichibu Mining Co., Ltd.
Ishizaki Co., Ltd.
Kansai Matech Co., Ltd. 
Kansai Taiheiyo Minerals Corporation
Kosyu Saiseki Co., Ltd.
Oita Taiheiyo Mining Corporation
Okutama Kogyo Co., Ltd.
Ryushin Mining Co., Ltd.
Yuko Mining Co., Ltd.

ENVIRONMENT
Ichihara Ecocement Corporation
NACODE Corporation
Tokyo Tama Ecocement Corporation

CONSTRUCTION AND CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS
Asahi Concrete Works Co., Ltd.
A&A Material Corporation
Chichibu Concrete Industry Co., Ltd.
Clion Co., Ltd.
Fuji P.S Corporation
Onoda Chemical Industry Co., Ltd.
Onoda Chemico Co., Ltd.
Taiheiyo Materials Corporation
Taiheiyo Precast Concrete Industry Co., Ltd.
Taiheiyo Soil Corporation

CERAMICS AND ELECTRONICS
Nihon Ceratec Co., Ltd.

TRANSPORTATION
Azuma Shipping Co., Ltd.
Chichibu Railway Co., Ltd.

OTHERS
Pacific Systems Corporation
Taiheiyo Accounting & Financial Services Corporation
Taiheiyo Engineering Corporation
Taiheiyo Real Estate Co., Ltd.

OVERSEAS ACTIVITIES
CalPortland Company (USA)
Dalian Onoda Cement Co., Ltd. (CHINA)
Jiangnan-Onoda Cement Co., Ltd. (CHINA)
Kalahari Dry (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (THAILAND)
Nghi Son Cement Corporation (VIETNAM)
PNG-Taiheiyo Cement Limited (PAPUA NEW GUINEA)
Qinhuangdao Asano Cement Co., Ltd. (CHINA)
Shanghai Sanhang Onoda Cement Co., Ltd. (CHINA)
Shenzhen Haixing Onoda Cement Co., Ltd. (CHINA)
Ssangyong Cement Industrial Co., Ltd. (SOUTH KOREA)
Taiheiyo Cement Philippines, Inc. (PHILIPPINES)
Taiheiyo International (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (THAILAND)

DOMESTIC NETWORK

Taiheiyo Cement’s facilities include our head office and Research & Development Center, 8 branch offices, 6 cement plants.
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Corporate Data (As of March 31, 2011)

Taiheiyo Cement Corporation

Head Office Daiba Garden City Building, 2-3-5 Daiba, Minato-Ku, Tokyo 135-8578 JAPAN

Date Established May 1881

Paid-in Capital ¥69,499 million

Fiscal Year From April 1 to March 31

Annual Meeting The general meeting of stockholders is normally held in June in Tokyo, Japan

Common Stock Authorized: 1,977,308 thousand Issued: 950,301 thousand

Number of Shareholders with
More Than One Unit of Shares 77,503 

Transfer and Register Agent The Chuo Mitsui Trust and Banking Co., Ltd.

Major Stockholders Stockholders Shares held (Thousand) Percentage of total (%)*

 The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 47,439 4.9

 Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account) 43,049 4.5

 Nippon Life Insurance Company 31,618 3.3

 Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd. 31,523 3.3

 Kochi Shinkin Bank 23,116 2.4

 JUNIPER 19,859 2.0

 Goldman Sachs & Co. Regular Account 18,130 1.9

 Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account 9) 17,810 1.8

 Trust & Custody Services Bank Ltd (Pension Trust Account) 17,718 1.8

 Meiji Yasuda Life Insurance Company 15,273 1.6

*Percentage of total shares issued.
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束部分保留（TCの確認＋指示待ち）

www.taiheiyo-cement.co.jp

TAIHEIYO CEMENT CORPORATION
Daiba Garden City Building, 2-3-5 Daiba, Minato-ku, Tokyo 135-8578 JAPAN
tel: 03-5531-7334  fax: 03-5531-7551     e-mail: ir-com@taiheiyo-cement.co.jp
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